# What kind of parenting promotes 0-3-year-olds' development? A review of research evidence in international and China-specific literature

Gao, J., Brooks, C., Xu, Y. and Kitto, E.

June 2021, UCL Institute of Education



Publication details: UCL Institute of Education, London.Date: 2021Authors: Jie Gao, Clare Brooks, Yuwei Xu and Eleanor Kitto

#### Acknowledgements

We would like to thank Dr. Bernardita Munoz Chereau and Prof. Gemma Moss for peerreviewing this report and providing us with very constructive comments and suggestions, which have helped us refine this report.

### Contents

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	4
BACKGROUND	
REVIEW FOCUS AND METHODOLOGY	4
MAIN FINDINGS	-
RECOMMENDATIONS FOR EMPIRICAL RESEARCH	6
RECOMMENDATIONS FOR PARENTS AND FAMILY SUPPORT PROFESSIONALS	7
1. INTRODUCTION	8
2. METHODOLOGY	10
2.1 LITERATURE SEARCH	
2.2 INCLUSION AND EXCLUSION CRITERIA	10
2.3 STUDY SELECTION AND QUALITY ASSESSMENT.	11
2.4 DATA EXTRACTION AND SYNTHESIS	12
3. FINDINGS	15
3.1 SUMMARIES OF THE INCLUDED STUDIES	
3.2 Research question 1: aspects of parenting and child development	-
3.2.1 Aspects of parenting under investigation	
Parental perceptions	
Parenting styles	
Parenting behaviours	
Parenting practice	
3.2.2 Aspects of child development under investigation	
Physical development	
Behavioural development	
Cognitive development	20
Socioemotional development	20
3.3 RESEARCH QUESTION 2: ASSOCIATIONS BETWEEN PARENTING AND CHILD DEVELOPMENT	21
3.3.1 Parenting styles and child development	22
3.3.2 Parenting behaviours and child development	22
3.3.3 Parenting practice and child development	23
4. DISCUSSION	28
4.1 RESEARCH GAPS AND METHODOLOGICAL CHALLENGES	
4.2 RECOMMENDATIONS FOR PARENTS AND FAMILY SUPPORT PROFESSIONALS	31
4.3 LIMITATIONS OF THIS EVIDENCE REVIEW	
5. CONCLUSION	34
6. REFERENCE	
7. APPENDIX	
Table 2.2a Quality assessment of the included international literature reviews and meta-analyse	
Table 2.2b Quality assessment of the included empirical research in Chinese contexts	
Table 3.1 Summaries of the included international literature reviews and meta-analyses	
Table 3.2 Summaries of included empirical research in Chinese contexts	67

#### Executive summary

#### Background

This report presents a synthesis of up-to-date research evidence reviewed by UCL Centre for Teacher and Early Years Education. It focuses on the relationships between parenting and children's development in early childhood (with a focus on 0-3 years period). Through the present evidence review, we seek to help Chinese parents and family support professionals to make better use of the available research evidence to guide parenting practice to promote children's development during the critical first 1000 days of life, which witness the most remarkable development and growth in children. In China, currently, the care and education of children under three years old are mainly taking place within the family, which highlights the urgency and importance to support Chinese parents and other family members to fulfil their responsibilities in caring for and educating young children. Furthermore, the Covid-19 pandemic has put a spotlight on parental involvement in children's care and education, which leads to increasing interests and a greater need to gain a better understanding of the role that parents play in children's development. This report serves as a timely response to the needs of Chinese parents with young children and the family support professionals working with these parents.

#### Review focus and methodology

This review focuses on research evidence concerning the relationships between parenting and young children's development. We conducted literature searches through seven bibliographic databases (ProQuest Central, IBSS, ERIC, East & South Asia Database, PRISMA Database, PsycINFO, and Coronavirus Research Database) in August 2020 for two sets of literature: *(i)* recent literature reviews and meta-analyses on the aforementioned relationships in international contexts (published in the past ten years, 2010-2020); and *(ii)* recent empirical research on the aforementioned relationships in Chinese contexts (published in the past ten years, 2010-2020). The purpose of reviewing the international literature reviews and meta-analyses is to generate an overview of the existing research on the focused relationships in global contexts, whilst the second set of literature can be more readily used to support Chinese parents in caring and educating children under three years old. By synthesising the findings of the two sets of literature, we aim to explore the complexities surrounding the question of what kind of parenting promotes or hinders young children's development.

Our literature searches generated 2976 and 740 records before screening, respectively (see Figure 2.1 & 2.2 for the detailed number of records in each database). A set of inclusion and exclusion criteria were adopted in the screening of literature as benchmarks of relevance and quality (see Table 2.1). After the screening process, there were 149 international literature reviews/meta-analyses and 66 China-specific empirical research papers remaining for the subsequent full-text screening and quality assessment.

The assessment of the full-text articles was informed by the four dimensional framework of Pascal, Bertram and Peckham (2018). Studies that demonstrate sound quality in all four dimensions were included for data extraction and finding synthesis. As a result, thirty-eight

international literature reviews/meta-analyses and ten China-specific empirical research papers are included in this report (see Table 3.1 and 3.2 for summaries).

A thematic approach (Pascal, Bertram, & Rouse, 2019) was adopted to code the findings of included studies in relation to the research questions. The final themes with corresponding sub-themes were used to address the following two research questions:

- 1. What aspects of parenting are under investigation in association with young children's development?
- 2. What are the associations between parenting and 0-3-year-old children's development in different contexts?

#### Main findings

The synthesis of the two sets of literature has demonstrated that a wide range of parenting constructs have been investigated in relation to different aspects of young children's physical, behavioural, cognitive and socioemotional development (see Section 3.2 for details). The parenting constructs under investigation can be classified into four categories, namely, parental perceptions, parenting styles, parenting behaviours and parenting practice.

While the importance of parental perceptions is to a certain extent recognised in research, the evidence mainly pertains to the indirect relationships between parental perceptions and children's development with parenting styles/behaviours/practice serving as in-between mediators (*e.g.*, Fraser *et al.*, 2011; Hesketh *et al.*, 2017).

Meanwhile, research on associations between parenting styles and child development has generated considerably mixed evidence (*e.g.*, Lindsay *et al.*, 2017; Pavarini *et al.*, 2013; Blaine et al., 2017), suggesting that it is time for parenting research to go beyond general parenting styles and take a more nuanced approach in the investigation of parenting and children's development (Smetana, 2017).

In contrast, the research evidence regarding associations between parenting behaviours (*e.g.*, parental warmth and parental control) and children's development is relatively more consistent across contexts (*e.g.*, Pinquart, 2014; Valcan *et al.*, 2018), albeit some evidence suggesting cultural differences exist in terms of how parental warmth and control are perceived, which may lead to variation in the relationships across different cultures (Cui *et al.*, 2018).

Likewise, some international review studies have reported relatively consistent research evidence regarding the associations between parenting practice and children's development (*e.g.*, Avila *et al.*, 2015; Ban *et al.*, 2017; Hooley et al., 2012; Russell *et al.*, 2016), whereas others have demonstrated mixed evidence (*e.g.*, Carneiro *et al.*, 2016; Kiff *et al.*, 2011; Jago *et al.*, 2013), suggesting that the associations are dependent on a number of factors, including research contexts, participant characteristics and how the parenting practice is defined and assessed in research. A more nuanced account of the associations between parenting constructs and child development is presented in Section 3.3 of this report. Therefore, we highlight the importance of contextualising parenting in future research, as well as in practical work with parents.

#### Recommendations for empirical research

Based on the synthesis of research evidence, we have identified the following research gaps and methodological challenges in current research:

- Most of the participants in the parenting studies under review are mothers, whilst fathers are sometimes regarded as subsidiary carers, particularly during 0-3 year period.
- The majority of research evidence has been generated by correlational studies taking a quantitative approach, which may not be adequate in revealing the underlying mechanisms of and complexity in the associations between parenting and children's development.
- Research on 0-3-year-olds' cognitive and socioemotional development is relatively insufficient, compared to research on physical and behavioural development. This may be due to theoretical and methodological challenges in assessing cognitive and socio-emotional development in children under three years old.
- There is a lack of attention on 0-3-year-olds' own perspectives, which may be due to the theoretical and methodological barriers to 'listening to' (Clark, 2017) preverbal children.
- In the Chinese contexts, the associations between parenting and children's development during the 0-3-year period are understudied, which may be partly due to the difficulties in participant recruitment.

Accordingly, we propose the following recommendations for future empirical research on the associations between parenting and 0-3-year-olds' development in the Chinese contexts:

- adopting approaches rooted in paradigms that allow 'thick description' of the associations between parenting and young children's development (in addition to the general patterns that most of the current research focuses on)
- taking an interdisciplinary approach that enables researchers to interpret the associations from different perspectives
- drawing on theoretical frameworks that entail ecological and system dynamic elements to account for the multifaceted and interactive effects of individual and contextual factors
- emphasising the bi-directional and interactive effects between parents and young children
- regarding young children as active and agentic individuals who have the right to express their own views, which shall be heard, valued and acted on; therefore, developing innovative research methods to 'listen to' (Clark, 2017) 0-3-year-olds
- paying close attention to parent and child characteristics, particularly for families with special needs
- further developing theories and corresponding measurement to conceptualise and assess the different aspects of development for children aged 0-3 years old in the Chinese contexts
- tracking the development trajectories of children from birth (or even prenatal period) to an older age to explore the role of parents during life process

#### Recommendations for parents and family support professionals

The findings of this evidence review highlight the importance of contextualising parenting to understand the complexity and underlying mechanisms of relationships between parenting and young children's development. Therefore, we suggest that parents and family support professionals should transform their question from '*what is good parenting*?' to a more contextualised question of '*what is the possible optimal parenting for this parent and this child*?'.

When drawing on research evidence, parents and family support professionals are advised to pay attention to the contexts in which the empirical research was situated and make connections to their own contexts. Whilst some of the widely-acknowledged general patterns of parenting effects are informative (see Section 3.3), when it comes to more specific parenting practices with individual children, we emphasise the importance of empowering parents to make contextualised judgments to their best knowledge of their children. While we understand that novice parents may seek general parenting principles and consider information on 'typical' childhood development useful, we believe it is crucial to stress that each child is unique, each parent is unique and each family is unique.

Hence, the key advice that we can offer to parents is to make contextualised judgments about parenting based on their best knowledge of their children through conscious observation during parent-child interaction with close attention paid to the nonverbal (and sometimes verbal) cues of their young children (Zeegers *et al.*, 2017). Parents can benefit from self-reflection on their interaction with children (Fonagy *et al.*, 1991; Slade, 2007), especially how their children respond to specific parenting practices in different situations.

Professional advice on parenting practice should be contextualised and based on a sound knowledge of the child and the family. Family support professionals should facilitate parents to build up confidence and explore the most suitable parenting practice for their children within their family. We highlight the uniqueness of each individual family to argue against standardisation in evaluating parenting practices in family support services and advocate a bespoke approach whenever possible.

Finally, we challenge the implicit presumption that fathers are subsidiary carers to mothers. We suggest that family support professionals should purposefully encourage and promote father involvement in the care and education of 0-3-year-olds (Shorey & Ang, 2019; Coates & Phares, 2019; Li, 2020). We recognise the potential differences between fathers and mothers in some aspects of parenting (Bariola *et al.*, 2011). However, we emphasise the importance and necessity to be mindful of gendered roles in parenting. Family support professionals should endeavour to promote gender equity and shared responsibilities in childcare between fathers and mothers.

To summarise our recommendations in an illustrative manner, we have created a poster (see the next page) to demonstrate the *Five 'Be'* for parents of children aged 0-3 years, namely, **be observant, be interactive, be reflective, be caring and be a 'family'**. Research findings underscore the key importance of empowering parents. Perfect parenting does not exist. Parents grow and develop together with their children. The ideal is to be a 'good enough' parent who embarks on a unique journey together with their children.

### **UCL CENTRE FOR TEACHER & EARLY YEARS EDUCATION**

# Be a 'family'

Parenting is not a oneperson job

Share responsibilities with each other. Have quality time together.

### **Be observant**

### Each child is unique

How does your child respond to you? What is your child's temperament? If it doesn't work, try a different way.

What kind of parenting promotes 0-3-year-olds' development?

Empower parents to make contextualised judgments based on their understanding of their children as well as themselves

# **Be interactive** Child enjoys interaction Talk to your baby/toddler Respond to their call for attention

(they are listening!)

For more information about parenting

What kind of parentina promotes 0-3year-olds' development? A review of

research evidence in international and

China-specific literature

0-3 olds, please check out our report:

# **Be reflective**

### Each parent is unique

How do you respond to your child? What is your need and trigger? Anything to do with your past experiences (as a child)?

How can you do things differently?

Regard parenting as a learning journey

# **Be caring**

Not only care for your child, but also care for yourself

How do you feel? Have time for yourself and your (other) loved ones.

Don't hesitate to ask for help.

#### **1. Introduction**

The first 1000 days after birth witness the most remarkable development and growth in children. As babies grow into toddlers, their bodies and brains develop rapidly, so do their cognitive, social-emotional and behavioural functions. Their development requires rich nutrition, a stimulating environment and responsive interaction with carers. It is vital for adults to provide the best care they can to ensure the safety and well-being of children so that they can have a sound and promising start in life.

Thanks to the increasing government investment and efforts aimed at improving early childhood education and care, over the past three decades China has made impressive progress in decreasing infant mortality and enhancing young children's nutrition and health (Yue et al., 2016). Chinese parents of young children, especially those of middle class in urban areas, are actively engaged in what Hays (1996) described as 'intensive parenting', that is, "child-centred, expert-guided, emotionally absorbing, labour-intense, and financially expensive" (p.8) forms of care (Hanser & Li, 2017). Yet, not all so-called 'expert-guided' parenting support is based on scientific evidence, let alone being tailored to the needs of contemporary Chinese parents with diverse backgrounds. In some extreme cases, misleading information and guidance from unqualified parenting support providers have led to sad tragedies. What Chinese parents urgently need is guidance and support which are informed by scientific research evidence. Therefore a synthesis of up-to-date research evidence on the associations between parenting and children's development in early childhood would be useful for exploring approaches to answer the question of under what circumstances, what kind of parenting promotes or hinders young children's development.

In order to help Chinese parents with children under three years old (as well as the family support professionals working with these parents) to make better use of the available research evidence, we conducted literature searches through seven bibliographic databases (*i.e.*, ProQuest Central, IBSS, ERIC, East & South Asia Database, PRISMA Database, PsycINFO, and Coronavirus Research Database) in August 2020 for two sets of literature.

The first set of literature is the recent literature reviews of the relationships between parenting and young children's development in international contexts (published in the past ten years, 2010-2020). The purpose of reviewing the existing literature reviews is to generate an overview of the current research on the associations between parenting and young children's development in global contexts. We adopted the approach of an umbrella review (as defined in Higgins et al., 2019) which refers to synthesising the findings of existing literature reviews and meta-analyses of the research topic under investigation. In light of the importance of parenting in early years, there is globally an abundant amount of research investigating the impact of parenting on children's development, based on which, the existing literature reviews, with diverse foci, have synthesised the research evidence of various aspects of parenting and children's development across nations and cultures (e.g., Amodia-Bidakowska et al., 2020; Valcan et al., 2018). Therefore, by conducting an umbrella review (Higgins et al., 2019) of the existing literature reviews and meta-analyses, we can reach a wide range of international literature on parenting and young children's development in diverse contexts within a limited timeframe to obtain an overview of the field. These international literature reviews and meta-analyses not only include empirical

research conducted in Chinese contexts, but also aggregate research evidence generated in other contexts. The findings of this umbrella review can provide useful insights into the associations between parenting and young children's development in global contexts.

We understand that parenting is shaped by cultural and socioeconomic contexts, and the relationships between parenting and children's development are likely to differ across contexts (Cui et al., 2017). Therefore, the second set of literature focuses on recent empirical research conducted in the Chinese contexts. Contemporary Chinese parents are facing different challenges in a rapidly changing society. Parents in urban areas often encounter the conflicts between 'traditional' (usually instructed by the elder generation) and 'modern' (usually imported from western countries) parenting ideologies and practices (Hanser & Li, 2017), whilst Chinese parents in rural areas usually face the dilemma and difficulties caused by rural-to-urban internal migration (Yue et al., 2020). Keeping these specific contexts in mind, we consider it vital to look into recent parenting research conducted in the Chinese contexts, in addition to the aforementioned international literature reviews and meta-analyses. In the same vein, we do not restrict the aspects of parenting and children's development under investigation. Given that there is a very limited number of literature reviews and meta-analyses of Chinese parenting (e.g., Li, 2020), we are not able to conduct an umbrella review (Higgins et al., 2019). Instead, we directly synthesise the primary research evidence of recent empirical studies on parenting and young children's development in Chinese contexts. This enables us to gain insights into the research evidence that can be more readily used to inform Chinese parents in caring for and educating young children.

This report demonstrates the research evidence obtained from both literature searches (*i.e.*, international and China-specific literature). By analysing, comparing and integrating the findings of both literature searches, we seek to address the following research questions:

- 1. What aspects of parenting are under investigation in association with young children's development?
- 2. What are the associations between parenting and 0-3-year-old children's development in different contexts?

Guided by the above two research questions, we seek to synthesise the available research evidence in international and China-specific literature in order to help Chinese parents, as well as family support professionals, to make better use of the available research evidence to guide their parenting practice to support children's development during the first 1000 days after birth.

#### 2. Methodology

#### 2.1 Literature search

Seven bibliographic databases were searched for the two sets of literature (*i.e.*, international literature reviews and meta-analyses and empirical research in Chinese contexts), namely, ProQuest Central, IBSS, ERIC, East & South Asia Database, PRISMA Database, PsycINFO, and Coronavirus Research Database. Literature published in English and Chinese languages were searched for the targeted studies of this report.

As for the international literature reviews and meta-analyses of the relationships between parenting and young children's development, the following search term was used: "parent\* *OR parent\*-style OR parent\*-pattern OR parent\*-behavio\**" AND "young-child\* OR earlyyear\* OR early-child\* OR infant\* OR postnatal OR neonatal OR preschool OR kindergarten OR nursery" AND "review\* OR meta-analys\*". In order to capture the most recent review studies, we set the search period of publication from January 2010 to Aug 2020 (the time of the search). Figure 2.1 demonstrates the number of records identified through each database.

As for the empirical research about Chinese parenting and young children's development, the search term was "parent\* OR parent\*-style OR parent\*-pattern OR parent\*-behavio\*" AND "young-child\* OR early-year\* OR early-child\* OR infant\* OR postnatal OR neonatal OR preschool OR kindergarten OR nursery" AND "China OR Chinese". The search period was set as the same as the first one (January 2010 to Aug 2020) to focus on the most recent studies. Figure 2.2 demonstrates the number of records identified through each database.

Since most of the review studies in the first search have included empirical studies of at least the past ten years from the time of publication, it is fair to say that this report manages to cover empirical research of interest over the past two decades and beyond, with a focus on the most recent ten years.

#### 2.2 Inclusion and exclusion criteria

As shown in Table 2.1, the following inclusion and exclusion criteria were adopted in the screening of literature as benchmarks of relevance and quality. The purpose of this report is to understand the associations between various aspects of parenting and children's development through reviewing international and China-specific literature. We mainly focus on the 0-3 year period but the research that includes 0-3 year period yet expands beyond 3-year-old is also included for two reasons: *a*) the number of studies that solely examine development during 0-3 years is relatively limited; *b*) from a developmental perspective, longitudinal studies that span beyond 0-3 year period provides valuable insights of the trajectory of development. However, studies that do not include children under three are excluded. We regard peer-reviewed publications as a benchmark of study quality. We acknowledge the limitation that only publications of English and Chinese languages are included. We consider that publications of other languages are more likely to focus on region-specific findings which are out of the scope of this study. We reflect on the implications of the dominance of English language publications in this report (see *Limitation* 

section). Meanwhile, we acknowledge that research focusing on one specific type of special needs of either parents or children is not included in this report. We recognise the importance of paying close attention to families with special needs and therefore we consider it more sensible and meaningful to have a separate report which focuses on research evidence regarding Chinese families with special needs. Nonetheless, we think the research evidence included in this report, albeit general rather than specific, can be of use to a certain extent for families with and without special needs. Finally, this report mainly adopts developmental and educational perspectives in understanding parenting and children's development. Therefore studies that focus on biological and medical research are not included in this report.

Literature	The inclusion criteria	The exclusion criteria
International literature reviews and meta-analyses	<ul> <li>Examining associations between parenting and children's development</li> <li>Involving children aged 0-3 years</li> <li>Literature review and meta- analysis studies</li> <li>Published in the past ten years (2010-2020)</li> <li>Peer reviewed</li> <li>English and Chinese language</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Reviews that focus on biological or medical research</li> <li>Reviews that focus on one specific type of special needs of parents or children</li> </ul>
Empirical research in Chinese contexts	<ul> <li>Involving parents and children in China (<i>incl.</i> mainland China, Hong Kong, Macao and Taiwan)</li> <li>Examining associations between parenting and children's development</li> <li>Involving children aged 0-3 years</li> <li>Published in the past ten years (2010-2020)</li> <li>Peer reviewed</li> <li>English and Chinese language</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Chinese parents and children who have migrated into another country</li> <li>Medical or biological research</li> <li>Research that focuses on one specific type of special needs of parents or children</li> </ul>

#### Table 2.1 The inclusion and exclusion criteria

#### 2.3 Study selection and quality assessment

The procedures of study selection of the two sets of literature are shown in the two diagrams of the procedure of literature search (Figure 2.1 & 2.2). After removing the duplicates (n=205 & 207, respectively), the records were screened by title and abstract in accordance with the inclusion and exclusion criteria (n=2976 & 740, respectively). After the screening process, there were 149 records (*i.e.*, international literature reviews and meta-analyses) and 66 records (*i.e.*, empirical research in Chinese contexts) remaining for the subsequent full-text screening and quality assessment.

The quality assessment of the full-text articles was informed by the literature. More precisely, we applied Pascal, Bertram and Peckham's (2018) four dimensions' framework: relevance of the study to the research questions; conceptual/theoretical framing; methodological rigour, transparency and ethics; and reliability, validity and trustworthiness of the findings. We adopted a four-point scale to evaluate the studies on each dimension, with higher scores indicating more relevance and higher methodological quality (see Appendix for the tables of quality assessment). The studies were firstly reviewed and assessed by the first author and then checked by the second author. Any dissonance was discussed among the research team to reach a consensus. We agreed that the studies with a score equal to or higher than three on each dimension were considered as having sound quality and relevance, hence were included for the data extraction and finding synthesis of this report. As a result, thirty-eight international literature reviews/meta-analyses and ten empirical research in Chinese contexts are included in this report.

#### 2.4 Data extraction and synthesis

Data extraction was carried out during the first round of full-text review. For the international literature reviews and meta-analyses, the following data were extracted from the articles: type of literature review, number of studies included, literature search period (if applicable), parenting construct(s) under investigation, aspects of children development and the main findings relevant to the research questions. For the China-specific empirical research, the following data were extracted: study type, sample, parenting construct(s) under investigation, aspects of children development to the research questions. The extracted data were used to inform the subsequent synthesis and analysis of the included literature.

We adopted a thematic approach (Pascal, Bertram, & Rouse, 2019) to synthesise the research evidence of the associations between parenting and children's development in the second round of review. The procedure started with reviewing the research findings of the included studies to generate initial codes that are relevant to the two research questions (*e.g.*, parental self-efficacy, authoritative parenting, parental warmth, language development, weight, positive/negative association, *etc.*). Subsequently, we organised and combined these initial codes to form themes that could be used to address the research questions (*e.g.*, parental perceptions, parenting styles, cognitive development, *etc.*). Finally, the themes were examined and refined in the final round of review to reveal the patterns that emerged from the research findings of included studies.



Figure 2.1 Procedure of literature search for literature reviews and meta-analyses



Figure 2.2 Procedure of literature search of China-specific empirical research

#### 3.1 Summaries of the included studies

For each of the included studies, we summarised the main findings that are relevant to the research questions. Two tables are generated to demonstrate the study summaries, including the type of study, the aspects of parenting and children's development under investigation and the main findings relevant to the current research questions (see Appendix for Table 3.1 and 3.2). These essential details about the included studies are useful for cross-referencing in the discussion of findings as well as providing readers with an informative account of the included literature. We need to reiterate that the international literature are reviews and meta-analyses whereas the China-specific literature are empirical studies. Therefore, it is important to be mindful of the source of evidence as well as the contexts of research when comparing and synthesising the findings.

Among the included international literature, the majority of studies (*n*=31) have taken a qualitative approach in synthesising the research evidence (*e.g.*, narrative review) while seven studies have conducted meta-analyses on the results generated by quantitative research of similar research questions. Meanwhile, it is noticeable that the majority of the included China-specific empirical research has adopted cross-sectional survey method (7 out of 10), with the remaining being a longitudinal quantitative study (*i.e.*, Dong *et al.*, 2018), a cross-sectional observation study (*i.e.*, Chang *et al.*, 2011) and an interview study (*i.e.*, Yue *et al.*, 2016). We do acknowledge that the reliance on cross-sectional survey method may be partly due to the research question of associations between parenting and children's development. Further discussion on the methodological issues of the research on this topic is presented in Section 4.1.

#### 3.2 Research question 1: aspects of parenting and child development

Both sets of literature show that a variety of parenting and child development constructs have been investigated in different contexts. Before we review the relationships between them, it is useful to have an overview of how these constructs are defined and assessed in research. It helps us to obtain a better understanding of the field and gain insights into the focus of research. The following two sections provide the aspects of parenting and child development under investigation, respectively.

#### 3.2.1 Aspects of parenting under investigation

Parenting is a very broad term that refers to the process of child-rearing (Bornstein & Lansford, 2010). When studying parenting, researchers tend to focus on specific aspects of parenting. Based on our review of the included studies, we can classify the parenting constructs into the following categories, namely, parental perceptions, parenting styles, parenting behaviours and parenting practice. While these constructs are conceptualised and operationalised differently for different research purposes, they are inextricably intertwined in essence. While some research explicitly focuses on one of the constructs (*e.g.*, Gordon *et al.*, 2015; Ren *et al.*, 2018), other research investigates how these constructs interact with each other in exerting influence on young children's development (*e.g.*, Fraser *et al.*, 2011; Rochelle & Cheng, 2016). We recognise that there is an overlap

between the definitions of some parenting constructs. The categorisation in this report is mainly based on the theoretical frameworks adopted by the included studies to conceptualise the constructs. The intention of the present categorisation is to provide a structured overview of the parenting constructs under investigation in the included studies of this report. Reference to specific parenting constructs can be found in Table 3.1 and 3.2 for a summary of each study's relevant findings.

#### **Parental perceptions**

A variety of constructs pertaining to parental perceptions have been investigated in the included studies of this report, such as:

- parents' self-beliefs, such as parental self-efficacy (*e.g.*, Hesketh *et al.*, 2017; Xu *et al.*, 2015), which can be broadly defined as a parent's beliefs of his/her ability to be a good parent (Coleman & Karraker, 1998);
- parenting knowledge, which can be either regarding general childcare in early years (*e.g.*, Zhong et al., 2020) or more commonly with reference to specific child-rearing tasks, such as feeding (*e.g.*, Hooley *et al.*, 2012) and promoting children's physical activity (*e.g.*, Hesketh *et al.*, 2017);
- parenting attitudes, mainly towards a specific aspect of child-rearing, such as eatingrelated attitudes (*e.g.*, Fraser *et al.*, 2011);
- parents' perceptions of their children, such as expectations and concerns about child (*e.g.*, Carneiro et al., 2016) and assessment of child's dietary quality (*e.g.*, Adamo & Brett, 2013);
- parenting stress (*e.g.*, Rochelle & Cheng, 2016), which refers to parental experience of stress (Abidin, 1990).

The importance of parental perceptions is to a certain extent recognised in research as seven out of the thirty-eight international review studies and three out of the ten Chinese research include constructs pertaining to parental perceptions under investigation. Nonetheless, researchers tend to examine indirect relationships between parental perceptions and children's development with the assumption that parenting styles/behaviours/practices may serve as in-between mediators (*e.g.*, Fraser *et al.*, 2011; Hesketh *et al.*, 2017). More detailed research findings regarding the relationships are presented and discussed in Section 3.3.

#### **Parenting styles**

The theory of typology of parenting styles proposed by Baumrind (1971, 2005) is probably the most widely adopted theoretical framework in the existing parenting research. Based on her research with pre-school children, Baumrind (1971) at first identified three different types of parenting style, namely, authoritative, authoritarian and permissive. Maccoby and Martin (1983) later added a fourth type --- uninvolved parenting. The four parenting styles mainly differ in the characteristics on two dimensions --- responsiveness and demandingness (Baumrind, 2005). To be more specific, authoritative parenting is identified as child-centred, with a high level of responsiveness and demandingness. Authoritative parents foster autonomy in children with clear standards and consistent monitoring. On the other hand, authoritarian parenting is regarded as controlling, demanding and harsh, with a low level of responsiveness. Authoritarian parents tend to be very restrictive and expect

obedience from their children. In contrast, permissive parenting is characterised as indulgent, lenient and non-directive. The low level of demandingness means that permissive parents seldom set rules or discipline their children. Finally, the uninvolved parenting style shows low levels of both responsiveness and demandingness. Uninvolved parents basically have minimum or no interests in parenting and are likely to put children in dangerously neglectful situations. While Baumrind's (1971, 2005) theoretical framework has been extensively used in empirical research to examine the effects of different parenting styles on children's development, we are mindful of its potential limitations.

Foremost, it is questionable whether this typology of parenting styles is valid cross-culturally (Cui *et al.*, 2018). Lim and Lim (2003) suggest that general parenting styles, such as proposed by Baumrind (1971), are constrained by cultural limitations because each style is composed of multidimensional parenting behaviours, which may imply different meanings in different cultures. Similarly, several researchers have pointed out the complication in identifying the effects of any specific parenting behaviour that makes up a parenting style (Bean, Bush, McKenry, & Wilson, 2003; Pettit, Laird, Dodge, Bates, & Criss, 2001). Therefore some researchers turn to more specific parenting constructs (*e.g.*, parenting behaviours/ practice) to conduct a more nuanced investigation into parenting and children's development (Sleddens *et al.*, 2011).

In the included studies, nine out of the thirty-eight international review studies have examined the relationships between parenting styles and various aspects of young children's development. The research findings are discussed with reference to the aforementioned limitations in the section addressing the second research question of this report (Section 3.3).

#### **Parenting behaviours**

A variety of theoretical frameworks of parenting behaviours have been proposed (*e.g.*, Becker, 1964; Schaefer, 1965; Barber, Maughan, & Olsen, 2005), thereby different terminologies pertaining to parenting behaviours are adopted in research. Nonetheless, these theories all underscore similar aspects of parenting behaviours that are deemed as salient in parent-child interaction. Two essential sets of parenting behaviours are commonly referred to among these theoretical frameworks, namely:

- parental warmth (also referred to as parental support, nurturing, acceptance, etc.) which refers to a wide range of parenting behaviours that are supportive, affective, companionate, sympathetic, loving and alike;
- parental control (also referred to as monitoring, regulation, discipline, etc.), which
  refers to parents' control over children's behaviours, activities, thoughts, emotions and
  so on. Further classification of parental control is often adopted in research, for
  example, Dong et al. (2018) differentiate low-power (e.g., reasoning and explanation)
  and high-power (e.g., intrusiveness and reprimand) strategies in parental control;
  Barber et al. (2005) distinguish behavioural control which focuses on regulating
  children's behaviours through rule-setting and reasoning, from psychological control
  which exerts control through love withdrawal, parental dominance, intrusiveness, guilt
  and shame, etc.; and Karreman et al. (2006) differentiate positive from negative
  parental control (i.e., teaching/guidance v.s. power-assertiveness).

In contrast to the typology of parenting styles, studies adopting the theoretical frameworks of parenting behaviours focus on a certain kind of parenting behaviour *per se* rather than compressing various parenting behaviours into one particular parenting style. While research evidence suggests that parents of different cultural backgrounds may not fit into the typology of parenting styles (for example, Chao (1994) demonstrates that rather than being authoritarian, Chinese parenting is more properly characterised by the notion of 'training' *[guan]* which implies parental care and devotion in addition to strict control and discipline), the theoretical frameworks of parenting behaviours have seen more consistent evidence suggesting relatively high applicability in cross-cultural contexts (Barber *et al.*, 2005).

In the included studies of this report, the above parenting behaviours are broadly examined, albeit diverse terms are adopted across studies. Overall, eight out of the 38 international review studies and three out of the ten Chinese research have investigated the relationships between the aforementioned parenting behaviours and young children's development. These studies have generated more up-to-date research evidence regarding parenting behaviours, which is presented in Section 3.3.

#### **Parenting practice**

We use this category to encompass those parenting constructs that are specific to a certain child-rearing task or refer to a specific set of actions, for example: *(note: this is not an exhaustive list)* 

- breastfeeding and other feeding practices (*e.g.*, Avila *et al.*, 2015; Hooley et al., 2012; Lo *et al.*, 2015; Yue *et al.*, 2016);
- vegetarian and vegan weaning (e.g., Baldassarre et al., 2020);
- parent-infant bedsharing (e.g., Gordon et al., 2015);
- Kangaroo care (e.g., Campbell-Yeo et al., 2015), which refers to 'the holding of an infant with ventral skin-to-skin contact typically in an upright position with the swaddled infant on the chest of the parent' (ibid, p.15);
- parental numeric speech (e.g., Chang et al., 2011);
- parental storytelling, singing and playing with children (*e.g.*, Luo *et al.*, 2019);
- parental emotion regulation and expression (*e.g.*, Aktar & Bögels, 2017; Bariola *et al.*, 2011);
- parent-child play (e.g., Amodia-Bidakowska et al., 2020)
- parental role-modelling, goal setting and reinforcement (e.g., Hesketh et al., 2017);
- parental involvement (*e.g.*, Higgins & Katsipataki, 2015; Ma *et al.*, 2016) which is usually defined in accordance to the research topic;
- abuse, neglect and maltreatment (e.g., Belsky & de Haan, 2011; Pavarini et al., 2013);
- parental sensitivity as defined in Ainsworth *et al.*'s (1978) attachment theory that refers to parents being aware of infants' signals and needs, and responding in a *'contingent, appropriate and consistent'* manner (Lamb & Easterbrooks, 1981, *p*.127);
- parental mentalisation (e.g., Zeegers *et al.*, 2017) which is defined as parents' awareness of infant's internal states and their actions to *'interpret their child's behaviour in terms of envisioned mental states, such as emotions, thoughts, desires, and intentions'* (*ibid, p.* 1246).

As is shown, the above parenting constructs tend to be more specifically defined in accordance with an individual research focus, compared to the parenting styles and general parenting behaviours in the previous sections. We acknowledge that the definitions of some constructs pertaining to parenting practice overlap with the definitions of previously mentioned parenting styles and parenting behaviours. For example, parental sensitivity (Ainsworth et al., 1978) shares some similarities with responsiveness (as defined in Baumrind's parenting styles) and parental warmth (as defined in the theoretical frameworks of parenting behaviours). However, parental sensitivity is more specific to parent-infant interaction, particularly the establishment of parent-infant attachment (Ainsworth et al., 1978). Therefore, we distinguish constructs pertaining to specific parenting practices from the more general parenting behaviours and parenting styles. Nevertheless, as we point out earlier, these parenting constructs are essentially intertwined and the purpose of this categorisation is to provide a structured overview of the parenting constructs under investigation in research. In the included studies of this report, thirty-five out of the thirtyeight international review studies and seven out of the ten Chinese research have investigated parenting constructs pertaining to specific parenting practices. A wide range of parenting practices has been examined in relation to the different aspects of child development. We discuss the findings in Section 3.3.

#### 3.2.2 Aspects of child development under investigation

The purpose of this section is to provide an overview of which aspects of young children's development have been studied in relation to parenting in the studies included in this report. We roughly categorise the aspects of child development into physical, behavioural, cognitive and socioemotional development. We recognise that different aspects of young children's development are not disconnected but rather intertwined with each other. Nonetheless, the current categorisation is intended to offer a clear structure for presenting the research focus of the included studies of this report. Both the international and the China-specific literature have covered all four aspects of child development in research. Table 3.3 illustrates the number of studies that investigate each aspect of development in international and China-specific literature. More details on each aspect of child development in research of child development under investigation are presented as follows.

	Physical development	Behavioural development	Cognitive development	Socioemotional development
International reviews and meta-analyses	13	19	10	14
Empirical research in Chinese context	2	4	5	2

#### Table 3.3 Number of studies investigating each aspect of development

#### **Physical development**

The importance of 0-3-year-olds' physical development is recognised in research as it to a certain extent paves the foundation for other aspects of development. The included studies of this report show that substantial empirical research has investigated infants mortality (e.g., Campbell-Yeo et al., 2015; Gordon *et al.*, 2015), nutrition (*e.g.*, Baldassarre *et al.*, 2020; Yue *et al.*, 2016), stunting (e.g., Ban *et al.*, 2017), weight (*e.g.*, Fraser *et al.*, 2011;

Pinquart, 2014), dental caries (*e.g.*, Avila *et al.*, 2015; Hooley *et al.*, 2012), motor functions (*e.g.*, Zhong *et al.*, 2020), brain development (*e.g.*, Belsky & de Haan, 2011; Cui *et al.*, 2018), neurohormonal functions (*e.g.*, Scott, 2012), *etc.* The research evidence gives a relatively comprehensive account of the role that parents play in supporting young children's physical development in diverse contexts. Tables 3.1 and 3.2 present detailed findings of the specific facet of physical development.

#### **Behavioural development**

Researchers' interests in young children's behavioural development are evident in the number of studies that investigate this issue (see Table 3.3). We use this category to encompass a range of behavioural outcomes of young children, including behaviour problems (*e.g.*, Carneiro *et al.*, 2016; Rochelle & Cheng, 2016), eating behaviours/ dietary patterns (*e.g.*, Blaine *et al.*, 2017, Lo *et al.*, 2015), behavioural regulation (*e.g.*, Baker et al., 2019, Ren *et al.*, 2018), gender-typed behaviour (*e.g.*, Endendijk *et al.*, 2018), physical activity and sedentary behaviours (*e.g.*, Lindsay et al., 2017; Russell *et al.*, 2016), screen viewing (*e.g.*, Jago *et al.*, 2013), compliance (*e.g.*, Dong et al., 2018; Owen *et al.*, 2012), *etc.* We understand that some behavioural problems are closely related to children's socioemotional development (Carneiro *et al.*, 2016). We use this category to summarise research that focuses on externalised behaviours of young children. Yet, we are cautious that the research findings should be interpreted in relation to other aspects of child development. Overall, there is relatively substantial research evidence of the associations between parenting and children's behavioural development (see Table 3.1 and 3.2 for details).

#### **Cognitive development**

We recognise the challenges in assessing young children's cognitive development, especially during the period of 0-3 years old. Despite the methodological difficulties, researchers have not neglected this aspect of development, especially in the included China-specific empirical research of which five studies focus on children's cognitive development. Across the included studies of international and China-specific literature, the investigation into young children's cognitive development has mainly been carried out in three areas: language abilities (*e.g.*, Ahun & Cote, 2018, Luo *et al.*, 2019), numeric/ mathematics competence (*e.g.*, Chang *et al.*, 2011; Ren *et al.*, 2018), and executive functions (*e.g.*, Moullin *et al.*, 2018; Valcan *et al.*, 2018). In each of these areas, researchers have examined more concrete and specified abilities, competence, skills and functions pertaining to the cognitive development of young children. When interpreting the research findings, we are mindful of how the specified facet of children's cognitive development is conceptualised and assessed in the research, as the variance in research findings can sometimes be accounted for by the different assessments adopted. We discuss the findings in Section 3.3.

#### Socioemotional development

In terms of young children's socioemotional development, fourteen international literature reviews have looked into the relevant research focusing on this aspect, whereas only two of the ten Chinese studies have included it in the research as one of the developmental outcomes of young children. It is arbitrary to jump to the conclusion that inadequate attention is paid to researching social and emotional development of 0-3-year-olds in

Chinese contexts. Yet it is worth noticing that the current literature search of China-specific research did not yield as many studies of socioemotional development as those of other aspects of development discussed above. As mentioned earlier, during the screening of China-specific research, we found that a large number of studies were conducted with samples of parents of children aged 3-6 years old as the participants were recruited through kindergartens (*i.e.*, early years provision for children aged 3-6 years old). Among these studies, many have investigated children's socioemotional development (*e.g.*, Ren & Xu, 2019; Ren & Edwards, 2015), even though there seem to be inadequate studies focusing on 0-3-year-olds' socioemotional development in Chinese contexts. Cui *et al.* (2018) demonstrate research evidence suggesting that early social experiences are related to children's genome and neurodevelopment, especially during infancy as a sensitive period of socioemotional development. Therefore we recommend that more empirical studies should be conducted to investigate the relationship between parenting and 0-3-year-olds' socioemotional development in Chinese contexts.

Across the included international and China-specific literature, the following constructs pertaining to socioemotional development have been investigated: infants' emotional expressions and reactions (*e.g.*, Aktar & Bögels, 2017), young children's emotion regulation (*e.g.*, Bariola *et al.*, 2011), socioemotional growth (*e.g.*, Zhong *et al.*, 2020; Luo *et al.*, 2019), children's temperament (*e.g.*, Kiff *et al.*, 2011), internalising symptoms (*e.g.*, Brumariu & Kerns, 2010; Carneiro *et al.*, 2016), parent-child attachment (*e.g.*, Zeegers *et al.*, 2017), *etc.* In the same vein as research on children's cognitive development, it is important to pay attention to how the specific facet of socioemotional development is conceptualised and assessed in different studies when synthesising and interpreting the research evidence. The findings are discussed in the following sections.

#### 3.3 Research question 2: associations between parenting and child development

As demonstrated above, researchers have carried out relatively comprehensive investigations into the relationships between various aspects of parenting and the development of children aged 0-3 years. Table 3.4 demonstrates an overview of the associations under examination in the included studies of this review. We synthesise the relevant research findings to shed light on the research-based evidence that can be used to inform educational programmes and support services for parents. When interpreting the findings, it is important to keep the following points in mind:

- The relationship between parents and children is reciprocal. Even when the focus of research is on the effects of parenting on children's development, we need to be mindful that children shape and influence parents' perceptions, parenting styles, behaviours and practices.
- The effects of parenting depend on the characteristics of parents and children, which can either amplify or buffer the effects. For example, Kliff *et al.* (2011) demonstrate that children's temperament plays an instrumental role in conditioning the effects of parenting. Therefore any attempts to generalise the findings need to be made with great caution.
- While the research under review focuses on parent-child relationship and the proximal process of interaction within family, it is important to maintain an ecological perspective and pay attention to the contexts in which the research is situated. Even

within the same cultural background, we need to be conscious of the heterogeneity of socio-cultural experience (Ladson-Billings, 2014). This is of particular relevance to the research-informed approach in supporting parents with diverse backgrounds.

Accordingly, we consciously pay attention to the above issues in our enquiry into the research question of 'what are the relationships between parenting and 0-3-year-old children's development in different contexts'. The research findings of the included studies are synthesised as follows. More nuanced findings of the relationships under investigation can be seen in Table 3.1 and 3.2 in the Appendix.

#### 3.3.1 Parenting styles and child development

Research adopting the theoretical framework of parenting styles has generated considerably mixed evidence, which is in correspondence with the aforementioned potential limitations of parenting styles. Two systematic reviews have reported no associations between parenting styles and children's physical activity (Lindsay *et al.*, 2017) and theory-of-mind development (Pavarini *et al.*, 2013), respectively. Nonetheless, several reviews have demonstrated inconsistent research findings regarding the relationships between parenting styles and children's weight gain/obesity (Fraser *et al.*, 2011), eating habits (Blaine *et al.*, 2017) and physical activity and screen time (Xu *et al.*, 2015). Sleddens *et al.* (2011) suggest that the influence of general parenting styles on children's development can be potentially moderated by behaviour-specific parenting practices. In support of this argument, Russell *et al.* (2016) have reported research evidence of associations between the styles of specific feeding practice (*i.e.*, authoritative, permissive, authoritarian and uninvolved) and children's dietary intakes.

In light of the above research evidence and the aforementioned potential limitations, we argue that it is time for parenting research to go beyond general parenting styles and take a more nuanced approach in the investigation of parenting and children's development. This shift from global styles to more specific dimensions of parenting is also supported by current parenting researchers (*e.g.*, Smetana, 2017). We discuss the relationships between specific parenting behaviours/ practices and children's development in the following sections.

#### 3.3.2 Parenting behaviours and child development

Compared to the research findings of general parenting styles, the research evidence regarding associations between parenting behaviours and children's development is relatively more consistent across contexts, albeit with some socio-cultural variance in certain specific effects. Instead of making generalised claims about the relationships, we scrutinise the research evidence giving careful consideration to the contexts of studies.

Two meta-analysis reviews of international literature have found significant associations between parenting behaviours and children's development. To be more specific, Pinquart (2014) conducted a meta-analysis on 156 studies of parenting behaviours and children's weight status, eating and physical activity in diverse contexts. The results suggest that parents' psychological control is associated with children's higher body weight (small effect size) whereas parental demandingness is associated with children's lower body weight, more physical activities and healthier eating (small to very small effect size) (*ibid*). Likewise,

Valcan *et al.*'s (2018) meta-analysis on 42 studies suggest that both positive (*e.g.*, warmth, responsiveness, sensitivity) and negative (*e.g.*, control, intrusiveness, detachment) parenting behaviours are significantly associated with children's composite executive functions, without detecting significant moderation effects of ethnicity or SES.

Similarly, other narrative reviews of international literature have reported relatively consistent evidence of the relationships between parenting behaviours (*i.e.*, parental warmth/acceptance and parental control) and various aspects of children's development. For example, Kiff et al. (2011) demonstrates evidence of the bidirectional and interactive relations between parenting behaviours and children's temperament, suggesting that parental behaviours shape and at the same time are responsive to the temperamental, emotional and behavioural characteristics of children. They suggest that young children's difficult temperament/negative emotionality increases the risk of adjustment problems in the presence of low parental responsiveness/sensitivity and high psychological control. Their findings highlight the bidirectional effects of parenting and children's development. Accordingly, we reiterate the importance of paying attention to both parents' and children's characteristics when examining the bidirectional relationships between parenting behaviours and children's development. Meanwhile, the contextual influences on the aforementioned relationships are reinforced by the research evidence reported by Cui et al. (2018) showing cultural differences in terms of how parental warmth and control are perceived, which may lead to variation in the relationships across different cultures. Therefore, careful scrutiny of how parenting behaviours are perceived and examined in different contexts is of importance in the comparison and synthesis of research evidence.

Among the China-specific literature, three studies have investigated parenting behaviours in association with young children's compliance (Dong *et al.*, 2018), behaviour problems (Ren *et al.*, 2018; Rochelle & Cheng, 2016) as well as behavioural regulation and number competence (Ren *et al.*, 2018). The findings are mostly consistent with the research evidence demonstrated in the international literature reviews. Table 3.1 presents more details of the studies.

Due to the relatively consistent research evidence regarding parenting behaviours, some researchers (*e.g.*, Valcan *et al.*, 2018; Ren *et al.*, 2018) have roughly classified parenting behaviours as positive/supportive (*e.g.*, warmth, responsiveness, sensitivity, *etc.*) and negative/aversive (*e.g.*, harsh control, intrusiveness, detachment, *etc.*). While we acknowledge the research evidence and theoretical rationales underpinning such classification, it may be more sensible to restrain ourselves from defining certain parenting behaviours as positive or negative in a generalised manner. Instead, a more nuanced approach with sufficient consideration given to contextual factors as well as parents' and children's characteristics is recommended for understanding the relationships between parenting behaviours and children's development.

#### 3.3.3 Parenting practice and child development

The majority of studies in international and China-specific literature have investigated specific parenting practices in association with corresponding aspects of children's development, which echoes the aforementioned call for shifting research focus from general parenting styles to more specific parenting practices. As demonstrated in Section 3.2, a variety of parenting practices are examined in the included international and China-

specific studies. Some international review studies have reported relatively consistent research evidence regarding the associations between parenting practice and children's development, whereas others have demonstrated mixed evidence, suggesting that the associations are dependent on a number of factors, including research contexts, participant characteristics and how the parenting practice is defined and assessed in research.

When interpreting the research evidence (as demonstrated in Table 3.1 and 3.2), we recommend taking an ecological perspective to understand the effects of a certain parenting practices in association with other influential factors. It is important to clarify that having a research focus on specific parenting practice does not mean investigating the practice in isolation. Instead, parenting is an interactive process situated in family dynamics, which are inevitably influenced by the outer community and society. Therefore it is essential to include related factors in the investigation of parenting practices. For example, a number of studies have examined the relevant parental perceptions, demonstrating evidence of their associations with parenting practices and children's development (*e.g.*, Adamo & Brett, 2013; Carneiro *et al.*, 2016; Hesketh *et al.*, 2017; Hooley *et al.*, 2012; Lindsay *et al.*, 2017; Rochelle & Cheng, 2016). By proposing and examining comprehensive models of parenting and related influential factors, studies with a research focus on specific parenting practice can generate meaningful findings of the associations between parenting and children's development.

As mentioned earlier, for some parenting practice, relatively consistent evidence is reported regarding its associations with certain aspects of children's development. Nonetheless, we reiterate the importance of paying attention to contextual factors and characteristics of parents and children when interpreting and making use of such research evidence. To support our argument, we use the practice of breastfeeding as an example. The benefits of breastfeeding to infants are consistently acknowledged across studies (e.g., Avila et al., 2015; Ban et al., 2017; Hooley et al., 2012; Russell et al., 2016). However, we shall not overlook the practical constraints and difficulties related to breastfeeding in certain circumstances. For example, Ban et al. (2017) reported that Chinese left-behind children of migrant mothers had a higher risk of lacking age-appropriate breastfeeding compared to non-left-behind children. Yet, proper alternative feeding practices can lower the risk of stunting (*ibid*). On the other hand, Hanser and Li (2017) have brought attention to the huge pressure related to breastfeeding that Chinese urban mothers encounter, which is regarded as a form of 'gendered burden'. It is reasonable to argue that the benefits of breastfeeding may be counterbalanced by other negative influences (e.g., parenting stress) if the practice is forced upon mothers. Therefore, it can be rather arbitrary to make a judgment about any specific parenting practice without careful consideration of other related contextual and individual factors. The example of adult-infant bedsharing can be used to further reinforce this argument. While research evidence shows that parent-infant bedsharing is especially risky for sudden infant death when it intersects with other individual risk factors (e.g., infant's physical conditions) (Gordon et al., 2015), Ward (2015) summarised the main reasons for parent-infant bedsharing based on their review of relevant literature, which suggests that some parents share bed with their infants for breastfeeding, comforting, better/more sleep, monitoring infants, bonding with infants to build attachment and so on. This example manifests the complexity embedded in parenting. What works in one circumstance does not necessarily work in another one. Hence, it is essential for researchers and family support professionals to pay close attention to such complexity and

avoid over-simplifying the associations between parenting practices and child development.

The importance of considering contextual and individual factors is further emphasised in the analysis and synthesis of the inconsistent evidence concerning certain parenting practice. For example, Carneiro *et al.* (2016) conducted a systematic review on parents' disciplinary practice in the early childhood period and found mixed evidence of the associations between parents' harsh discipline and young children's internalising and externalising problems, suggesting that sample characteristics and other relevant factors (*e.g.*, parents' inappropriate expectations and concerns about children) should be taken into consideration. On the other hand, some reviews show that the differences in the existing measurement of some parenting practices may account for the divergent evidence of its associations with children's development (*e.g.*, Kiff *et al.*, 2011; Jago *et al.*, 2013). Therefore, when interpreting the inconsistent evidence concerning certain parenting practices, the above factors (*i.e.*, contextual, individual, and methodological) shall be taken into account.

Among the China-specific literature, three studies have investigated parents' feeding practices, of which two focus on families in disadvantaged rural areas of mainland China (Ban et al., 2017; Yue et al., 2016), while the other one involves a sample of Hong Kong parents and children (Lo et al., 2015). Overall, the findings of the associations between feeding practices and young children's dietary guality and corresponding physical development is in line with the research evidence demonstrated in international literature reviews (Russell et al., 2016; Fraser et al., 2011). Nonetheless, it is worth mentioning that both Ban et al. (2017) and Yue et al. (2016) have highlighted the considerable rural-urban gap in China in terms of the risk of malnutrition/stunning for young children. Yue et al. (2016) interviewed the primary caregivers of young children (6-18 months) in the rural areas of nationally-designated poverty counties in China. They found that the caregivers lacked adequate knowledge of infant health and nutrition; and had limited access to quality sources of relevant information, which impeded proper complementary feeding practices (ibid). Accordingly, Yue et al. (2016) recommended promoting educational campaigns aimed at improving complementary feeding practices in disadvantaged rural areas in China. Based on our current review, we suggest that educational campaigns of a similar kind can benefit from a more in-depth investigation into the associations between parenting (or the lack of parenting) and young children's development with careful consideration given to the contextual and individual factors that are of particular relevance to Chinese rural families. While there are increasingly more studies focusing on Chinese rural families, especially those with *left-behind-children* (defined as children having one or both parents who migrate to urban areas and leave child-care responsibility to the other parent or other relatives in rural areas, Ban et al., 2017), the majority are large-scale survey studies which rely on standardised questionnaires and measurement (e.g., Ai et al., 2020; Qu et al., 2020; Zhong et al., 2020). We acknowledge the contribution of these large-scale studies and their implications on policy making and implementation. Nonetheless, based on our review of existing research evidence, we argue that it is not sufficient to solely rely on standardised guestionnaires and measurement, which may not be able to fully account for the complexity and explain the underlying mechanisms of the relationships between parenting and young children's development. We recommend conducting more in-depth investigations that adopt mixed-method approaches (e.g., case study) to shed light on the complexity embedded in the parenting of Chinese rural families.

	Physical development	Behavioural development	Cognitive development	Socioemotional development
Parental perceptions	International reviews/meta-analyses: Fraser <i>et al.</i> , 2011; Hooley <i>et al.</i> , 2012.	International reviews/meta-analyses: Adamo & Brett, 2013; Carneiro <i>et al.</i> , 2016; Hesketh <i>et al.</i> , 2017;	Empirical research in Chinese contexts: Liu <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 2020; Zhong <i>et al.</i> , 2020.	International reviews/meta-analyses: Carneiro <i>et al.</i> , 2016 Empirical research in
		Lindsay <i>et al.</i> , 2017; Xu et <i>al.</i> , 2015. <b>Empirical research in</b> <b>Chinese contexts</b> : Rochelle & Cheng, 2016.		<b>Chinese contexts</b> : Zhong <i>et al.</i> , 2020.
Parenting styles	International reviews/meta-analyses:	International reviews/meta-analyses:	International reviews/meta-analyses:	International reviews/meta-analyses:
	Fraser <i>et al.</i> , 2011; Russell <i>et al.</i> , 2016; Sleddens <i>et al.</i> ,	Adamo & Brett, 2013; Blaine <i>et al.</i> , 2017; Jago <i>et al.</i> ,	Pavarini <i>et al.</i> , 2013.	Pavarini e <i>t al.</i> , 2013.
	2011.	2013; Lindsay <i>et al.</i> , 2017; Russell <i>et al.</i> , 2016; Sleddens <i>et al.</i> , 2011; Xu <i>et</i>		
Parenting	International	International	International	International
behaviours	reviews/meta-analyses:	reviews/meta-analyses:	reviews/meta-analyses:	reviews/meta-analyses:
	cui et al., 2010, riasei et al., 2011; Pinquart, 2014; Russell et al., 2016.	nesseu et al., 2011, Nill et al., 2011; Pinquart, 2014; Russell et al., 2016.	Alluli & COTE, 2010, Valcall et al., 2018.	2011
			Empirical research in	
		Empirical research in	Chinese contexts: Ren et	
		Chinese contexts: Dong <i>et al.</i> , 2018; Ren <i>et al.</i> , 2018.	<i>al.</i> , 2018.	

Table 3.4 Overview of the included studies in this report

26

	Physical development	Behavioural development	Cognitive development	Socioemotional
				aevelopment
Parenting	International	International	International	International
practice	reviews/meta-analyses:	reviews/meta-analyses:	reviews/meta-analyses:	reviews/meta-analyses:
	Avila <i>et al.</i> , 2015;	Adamo & Brett, 2013; Baker	Ahun & Cote, 2018; Amodia-	Aktar & Bögels, 2017;
	Baldassarre <i>et al.</i> , 2020;	<i>et al.</i> , 2019; Blaine <i>et al.</i> ,	Bidakowska <i>et al.</i> , 2020;	Amodia-Bidakowska <i>et al.</i> ,
	Belsky & de Haan, 2011;	2017; Campbell-Yeo <i>et al.</i> ,	Coates & Phares, 2019;	2020; Bariola <i>et al.</i> , 2011;
	Campbell-Yeo <i>et al.</i> , 2015;	2015; Carneiro <i>et al.</i> , 2016;	Endendijk <i>et al.</i> , 2018;	Brumariu & Kerns, 2010;
	Cui et al., 2018; Gordon et	Coates & Phares, 2019;	Higgins & Katsipataki, 2015;	Campbell-Yeo <i>et al.</i> , 2015;
	al., 2015; Hooley <i>et al.</i> ,	Endendijk <i>et al.</i> , 2018;	Lucas-Thompson <i>et al.</i> ,	Carneiro <i>et al.</i> , 2016; Cui <i>et</i>
	2012; Pinquart, 2014;	Hesketh et al., 2017; Jago et	2010; Ma <i>et al.</i> , 2016;	<i>al.</i> , 2018; Moullin <i>et al.</i> ,
	Russell et al., 2016; Scott,	<i>al.</i> , 2013; Lindsay <i>et al.</i> ,	Moullin <i>et al.</i> , 2018; Pavarini	2018; Pavarini <i>et al.</i> , 2013;
	2012; van der Voort <i>et al.</i> ,	2017; Lucas-Thompson et	<i>et al.</i> , 2013.	van der Voort <i>et al.</i> , 2014;
	2014.	<i>al.</i> , 2010; Moullin <i>et al.</i> ,		Verhage <i>et al.</i> , 2016;
		2018; Owen <i>et al.</i> , 2012;	Empirical research in	Zeegers <i>et al.</i> , 2017.
	Empirical research in	Pinquart, 2014; Russell <i>et</i>	Chinese contexts: Chang	
	Chinese contexts: Ban et	<i>al.</i> , 2016; an der Voort <i>et al.</i> ,	<i>et al.</i> , 2011; Liu <i>et al.</i> , 2020;	Empirical research in
	<i>al.</i> , 2017; Yue <i>et al.</i> , 2016.	2014; Xu <i>et al.</i> , 2015.	Luo <i>et al.</i> , 2019.	Chinese contexts: Luo et
				al., 2019.
		Empirical research in		
		Chinese contexts:		
		Lo <i>et al.</i> , 2015; Rochelle &		
		Cheng, 2016		

#### 4. Discussion

By conducting the search of two sets of literature through seven bibliographic databases (*i.e.*, international literature review/meta-analyses and China-specific empirical research, respectively), we gained an overview of the relevant research evidence of associations between parenting and young children's development across contexts. By reviewing the findings of included studies, we have identified a number of research gaps and methodological challenges for empirical research on parenting and the development of 0-3 year-olds, which are discussed in the following section. Based on the findings of this report, we propose some recommendations for future empirical research on associations between parenting and 0-3-year-olds' development in the Chinese contexts, as well as recommendations for Chinese parents and family support professionals in terms of how to interpret and make use of the available research evidence.

#### 4.1 Research gaps and methodological challenges

Overall, abundant research evidence has been generated to illuminate the associations between a wide range of parenting constructs and young children's development outcomes in diverse contexts. The identified research gaps and methodological challenges are discussed as follows.

As is shown in Table 3.4, the majority of the included studies have investigated parenting constructs pertaining to specific parenting practices, instead of general parenting styles. Given the inconsistent research evidence concerning general parenting styles (*e.g.*, Lindsay *et al.*, 2017; Pavarini *et al.*, 2013; Blaine *et al.*, 2017), research that focuses on more specific parenting practices and child development is more informative and helpful for parents and family support professional. This echoes the call for taking a more nuanced approach in investigating parenting (Smetana, 2017). On the other hand, while research evidence suggests that parental perceptions (*e.g.*, parental self-efficacy, parenting knowledge and attitudes) influence parenting behaviours and practice (Fraser *et al.*, 2011; Hesketh *et al.*, 2017; Liu *et al.*, 2020; Zhong *et al.*, 2020), more research is needed to reveal the relationships between parental perceptions, parenting behaviours/practice and child development. Findings of such research can inform parenting programmes by shedding light on whether it is more effective to focus on changing parental perceptions or parenting behaviours/practice.

Another common pattern that is evident across the included international reviews and China-specific empirical research is that most of the participants in the existing parenting studies under review are mothers, particularly during 0-3 year period. Acknowledging this research gap, increasingly more parenting researchers have underlined the importance of investigating the role of fathers in various aspects of young children's development (*e.g.*, Bariola *et al.*, 2011; Brumariu & Kerns, 2010; Coates & Phares, 2019; Fraser *et al.*, 2011; Li, 2020; Pavarini *et al.*, 2013). We argue that researchers should refrain from assuming or reinforcing any gender-stereotypical differences between fathers and mothers in parenting. With this caution taken into account, empirical studies focusing on or including fathers as participants can generate valuable insights and expand the existing findings of associations between parenting and young children's development. Furthermore, the majority of research evidence in this review has been generated by correlational studies taking a quantitative approach. We recognise the contribution of correlational studies, especially those adopting a longitudinal design and using external measurement of parenting and children's development in addition to self-report measurement. Nonetheless, as demonstrated in Section 3.3, the synthesised research evidence suggests that the associations between parenting and young children's development are contingent on individual characteristics of parents and children as well as the cultural and socioeconomic contexts in which families are situated. Therefore, we argue that it is time to take a more nuanced approach in parenting research and shift the emphasis from examining associations that can be generalised to a wider population to investigating the underlying mechanisms of parent-child interaction and revealing the complexity embedded in family dynamics. In addition to an ecological perspective, empirical research on parenting and young children's development can also benefit from approaches that are rooted in paradigms such as constructivism and post-structuralism. While we are not calling for a paradigm shift in the field, the findings of our review suggest that it is worth challenging some of the underlying assumptions of the current research on the associations between parenting and young children's development, such as assuming general classification of positive and negative parenting, assuming more influence from parents on children than the other way round, assuming fathers are secondary carers to mothers, and so on. Although there are many parenting studies that take a gualitative approach (e.g., grounded theory, phenomenology, etc.), these studies tend to focus on parents' perceptions and experiences of parenting without further exploring the potential links to children's development (e.g., Hanser & Li, 2017; Shorey & Ang, 2019). In order to gain a more indepth understanding of the dynamic associations between parenting and young children's development, future research can benefit from more diverse theoretical perspectives as well as an interdisciplinary approach.

Taking a closer look at the included empirical research in Chinese contexts, we find that the empirical research focusing on 0-3-year-olds is insufficient, compared to a relatively large number of Chinese parenting studies which have involved children aged from 3-6 years old (*e.g.*, Xing & Wang, 2017; Yao *et al.*, 2020). This may be partly due to the difficulties in participant recruitment. While it is relatively easier for Chinese researchers to approach kindergartens to recruit parents and children aged 3-6 years old, children under three are mainly taken care of by parents or grandparents at home in China, which poses some barriers to recruiting them for research. Yet, the current lack of ECEC provision for children under three makes it even more urgent and meaningful to investigate the associations between parenting and 0-3-year-olds' development in Chinese contexts. Researchers may consider working with maternity hospitals or local divisions of the population and family planning commission to reach out to families with children aged 0-3 years old.

Likewise, as can be seen in Table 3.4, while the importance of studying young children's socioemotional development is widely recognised in the international literature reviews and meta-analyses, the empirical research focusing on 0-3-year-olds' socioemotional development in Chinese contexts seems less adequate. This raises the question of whether young children's socioemotional development is less valued in Chinese contexts. Yet, there are a considerable number of studies that have investigated Chinese preschool children's (aged 3-6 years) socioemotional development (*e.g.*, Ren & Xu, 2019; Ren & Edwards, 2015). We acknowledge that it is relatively more challenging to assess 0-3-year-olds'

socioemotional development, as well as their cognitive development, than their physical and behavioural development. Hence we suggest that future research should seek to further develop theories to conceptualise specific facets of cognitive and socioemotional development and accordingly exploring innovative methods of assessment for children aged 0-3-year-olds. Furthermore, as mentioned earlier, different aspects of young children's development are not disconnected but intertwined with each other. For example, Belsky and de Haan (2011) and Cui *et al.* (2018) have reviewed the research evidence of how early years parenting influences young children's brain development/neurodevelopment, suggesting it is worth exploring how such influence may potentially mediate the associations between parenting and children's emotion, cognition, behaviour and health. While it is sensible for empirical research to have a specific focus, we recommend that researchers take the connections between different aspects of development into consideration to gain a comprehensive understanding of young children's development.

Meanwhile, more empirical research is needed to focus on grandparents and other carers in extended family in Chinese contexts. We are aware of the high grandparent involvement in caring for young children in Chinese families nowadays (Chen, Liu & Mair, 2011; Silverstein & Zuo, 2020). Although the current report does not specifically look into grandparents taking care of their grandchildren, we do recognise its significance in the Chinese contexts, especially for left-behind-children in rural areas (Wang *et al.*, 2019), and consider it as a limitation that shall be addressed in future reports. Besides, for a large number of urban families in China, grandparents are effectively acting as co-caregivers for young children (Li & Liu, 2019). A more in-depth investigation into intergenerational caregiving for young children and co-parenting between parents and grandparents in Chinese contexts (*incl.*, both urban and rural contexts) can be beneficial to multiple stakeholders including policymakers, family support professionals, parents, grandparents as well as young children.

To summarise, we propose the following recommendations for future empirical research on the associations between parenting and 0-3-year-olds' development in the Chinese contexts. While we acknowledge the contribution of the current prevalently adopted cross-sectional survey research and large cohort research in China, we suggest drawing attention to the new insights that empirical research with the following features can potentially bring about:

- adopting approaches rooted in paradigms (*e.g.*, constructivism and poststructuralism) that allow 'thick description' of the associations between parenting and young children's development (in addition to the general patterns that most of the current research focuses)
- taking an interdisciplinary approach that enables researchers to interpret the associations from different perspectives
- drawing on theoretical frameworks that entail ecological and system dynamic elements to account for the multifaceted and interactive effects of individual and contextual factors
- emphasising the bi-directional and interactive effects between parents and young children
- regarding young children as active and agentic individuals who have the right to express their own views, which shall be heard, valued and acted on; therefore,

developing innovative research methods to 'listen to' (Clark, 2017) 0-3-year-olds

- paying close attention to parent and child characteristics, particularly for families with special needs
- further developing theories and corresponding measurement to conceptualise and assess the different aspects of development for children aged 0-3 years old in the Chinese contexts
- tracking the development trajectories of children from birth (or even prenatal period) to an older age to explore the role of parents during life process

#### 4.2 Recommendations for parents and family support professionals

This report seeks to synthesise the up-to-date research evidence of associations between parenting and young children's development (with a focus on 0-3 years period) in order to advise Chinese parents and family support professionals. Informative research evidence generated by recent studies (published in the past ten years, 2010-2020) is summarised in Table 3.1 and 3.2. As demonstrated in Section 3.2 and 3.3, a great diversity of aspects of parenting and young children's development have been investigated in the included studies of this report. The synthesis of findings suggests that the associations between parenting and young children's development depend on factors that pertain to *(i)* theoretical and methodological issues (*e.g.*, how the aspect of parenting and children's development is conceptualised and assessed in research), *(ii)* parent and child characteristics (*e.g.*, child's temperament, *etc.*), and *(iii)* contextual factors (*e.g.*, cultural, social, economic, political and historical contexts). Hence, we propose the following recommendations for Chinese parents and family support professionals to make better use of available research evidence to inform everyday practice.

We suggest that parents and family support professionals could start with transforming their question from '*what is good parenting?*' to the more contextualised question of '*what is the optimal parenting for this parent and this child?*'. When drawing on research evidence, parents and family support professionals are advised to pay attention to the contexts in which the empirical research was situated and make connections to their own contexts. Whilst some of the widely-acknowledged general patterns of parenting effects are informative, when it comes to more specific parenting practices with individual children, we emphasise the importance of empowering parents to make contextualised judgments to their best knowledge of their children.

Accordingly, we suggest that educational programmes and family services for parents of young children should lay emphasis on facilitating parents to gain a profound understanding of their children through conscious observation during interaction, a careful reading of the nonverbal (and sometimes verbal) cues of children and parental mentalisation (*e.g.*, mind-mindfulness, insightfulness, and reflective functioning) (Zeegers *et al.*, 2017). Such effort can benefit from theories that underscore parents' conscious endeavour to understand their children (both the external behaviours and the internal mental states) during parent-child interaction, such as reflective parenting (Fonagy *et al.*, 1991; Slade, 2007). While we understand that novice parents may seek general parenting principles and consider information on '*typical*" childhood development useful, we think it is crucial to stress that each child is unique, each parent is unique and each family is unique. Professional advice on what kind of parenting practice may be suitable should be contextualised and based on

a sound knowledge of the child and the family. Family support professionals should facilitate parents to build up confidence and explore the most suitable parenting practice for their children within their context.

As mentioned earlier, the majority of research evidence of early years parenting in the included literature is regarding mothers. Nonetheless, we challenge the implicit presumption that fathers are subsidiary carers to mothers who are regarded as primary carers for children aged 0-3 years old. The benefits of father involvement to young children and mothers are well-documented (Shorey & Ang, 2019; Coates & Phares, 2019; Li, 2020). We suggest that family support professionals should purposefully encourage and promote father involvement in the care and education of 0-3-year-olds. We recognise the potential differences between fathers and mothers in some aspects of parenting (Bariola *et al.*, 2011). However, we emphasise the importance and necessity to be mindful of gendered roles in parenting young children. Rather than reinforcing gender stereotypes in parenting, family support professionals should endeavour to promote gender equity and shared responsibilities between fathers and mothers.

Finally, the synthesis of research evidence generated by studies conducted in different contexts has reinforced the importance to pay close attention to individual characteristics of parents and children when investigating associations between parenting and children development. Due to the limitation of not including studies that focus on families with special needs in this report, we are unable to propose specific recommendations accordingly. Nonetheless, based on the diverse research evidence reported by the included studies, we reiterate the necessity of tailoring support for different families, especially those with special needs and/or of disadvantaged backgrounds (*e.g.*, migrant families from rural to urban areas, families of left-behind children in rural areas, *etc.*). We recognise the urgency of providing these families with the support they need and suggest that such support should lay emphasis on enabling empowerment and strengthen resilience.

#### 4.3 Limitations of this evidence review

Although seven bibliographic databases were searched for literature in both cases (*i.e.*, international literature reviews and China-specific empirical research), the current report has included a limited number of studies that are available in the field. Particularly for China-specific empirical research, the exclusion of Chinese databases (*e.g.*, CNKI '中国知

网') explains the inclusion of only a few empirical research conducted by Chinese

researchers. This choice responds to the limited timeframe and resources available. We mainly focused on literature that are available in international bibliographic databases. We acknowledge this limitation, yet argue that the research evidence synthesised in this report is a useful supplement to other reviews of Chinese studies, thereby contributing to future empirical research of the topic.

Meanwhile, as this review focuses on the associations between parenting and children's development, the research evidence is mainly drawn from correlational studies. We understand that other parenting research which does not explicitly investigate the associations between parenting and children's development can also provide insights into the relationship (*e.g.*, Shorey & Ang, 2019). Such parenting research is likely to take a

theoretical approach that allows 'thick description' of parenting. Yet, they are not included in this evidence review because of not establishing links between parenting and children's development.

Furthermore, we are conscious that this report does not specifically focus on families with special needs and/or of disadvantaged backgrounds, which is a limitation that can be better addressed in a more specific literature review. Finally, we acknowledge that this report does not address issues of grandparenting (which is of particular relevance to the Chinese context), nor families beyond the heterosexual nuclear family structures. These issues are worth further investigation in Chinese contexts. Despite these limitations, we suggest that this report can be used to facilitate future development of academic research as well as practical service to support parents of children aged 0-3 years old in China in order to promote young children's development.



#### 5. Conclusion

In response to Chinese parents' and family support professionals' need for up-to-date research evidence on the associations between parenting and young children's development (with a focus on 0-3 years period), we conducted literature searches through seven bibliographic databases for *(i)* recent literature reviews and meta-analyses on the aforementioned associations in international contexts (published in the past ten years, 2010-2020); and *(ii)* recent empirical research on the aforementioned associations in Chinese contexts (published in the past ten years, 2010-2020). By synthesising the findings of both sets of literature, we explored the complexities surrounding the question of under what circumstances, what kind of parenting promotes or hinders young children's development.

The synthesis of research evidence reported by the included studies has reinforced the finding that the effects of parenting on young children's development tend to vary across families of different backgrounds. Therefore, we argue that it may be time for researchers to shift from exploring generalised patterns to taking a more nuanced approach in investigating the effects of parenting to shed light on the underlying mechanisms of identified associations between parenting and young children's development. Empirical research on this topic can further benefit from an interdisciplinary approach that enables researchers to interpret the associations from different theoretical perspectives. Furthermore, it is worth tracking the development trajectories of children from birth (or even prenatal period) to an older age to explore the role of parents during life process.

Accordingly, we propose an evolving model of contextualising parenting (see Figure 5.1) which illustrates the individual and contextual factors (see Table 5.1) that potentially affect parenting and its impact on young children's development. We name the model as "*evolving*" to imply two points: (*i*) parenting constantly *evolves* as a result of the interplay between these influential factors; (*ii*) the model itself *evolves* along with the development in changing times (*e.g.*, further development in parenting research). The listed potential influential factors of parenting in early childhood are not exhausted. Their influence on parenting is constantly changing rather than static. The relationships between factors in the model are reciprocal and dynamic.

This model can be used by researchers to contextualise parenting in their empirical studies, as well as by other stakeholders (*e.g.*, family support professionals and parents) to understand and analyse parenting practice in everyday life. To be more specific, family research scholars can consider the different layers of contexts in the model before deciding on their research focus, so that the potential influence of other factors can be acknowledged or to a certain extent accounted for in the research. Based on this theoretical model, a set of practical checklists can be developed to help family support professionals identify the most relevant factors that affect the parenting practices in the family that they work with, thereby tailoring the intervention and their support to achieve optimal outcomes. In addition, we can also use this model to develop practical guidelines to facilitate parents' reflection on what potentially shapes their parenting practices and raise self-awareness in everyday interactions with their children. This evolving model of contextualising parenting serves as a useful tool for the development of practical checklists and parents.



Figure 5.1 Evolving model of contextualising parenting

Table 5.1 Influential factors of parenting in early childhood

(Note: this is not an exhaustive list)



#### Parent

- Age/Gender
- Socioeconomic status (e.g., education, occupation and income)
- Special needs
- Child-birth experience
- Affect and mental states (*e.g.*, parenting stress, parenting satisfaction, maternal/paternal depressive symptoms, *etc.*)
- Self-beliefs (*e.g.*, parental self-efficacy, *etc.*)
- Parenting knowledge and parenting attitudes
- Perceptions of their child
- Childhood experience with their parents and/or other carers (*e.g.*, attachment style, *etc.*)
- Prior experience as a parent (if applicable)
# Family

- Family structure
- Family socioeconomic status
- Family ethnicity
- Family migration (if applicable)
- Relationships between family members and family dynamics (*e.g.*, couple relationship, cross-generational relationship, power dynamics, emotional interdependence, *etc.*)
- (Shared) roles in/responsibilities of childcare within family

### Community

- Geographic region
- Community socioeconomic status
- Parent group (*e.g.*, informal peer groups or formal community parent groups)
- Access to childcare facilities and support (*e.g.*, playground, child centre, community family support, *etc.*)

# Political, social, economic and cultural contexts

- Childcare legislation and policies (*e.g.*, maternity/paternity leave, flexible working, family services, *etc.*)
- Country economic situation
- Shared parenting ideology
- Social expectations
- Parenting traditions (*e.g.*, rituals, traditional parenting ideologies and practices, *etc.*)

### Historical contexts

- Social revolutions
- Globalisation
- Public emergency (e.g., pandemic, war, coup, etc.)

Based on our screening of China-specific literature, it is evident that empirical research on children aged 0-3 years old is not as sufficient as research on older children in Chinese contexts, which may partly be due to the challenges of participant recruitment posed by the lack of ECEC provisions for children aged under three years old in China. Yet, the current circumstances that the care and education of children under three years old are mainly taking place within family in China highlight the urgency and importance to support Chinese parents and other family members to fulfil their responsibilities in childcare. Based on the research evidence included in this report, we have proposed recommendations for researchers and family support professionals who can contribute to facilitating parents to promote the development of their young children (as demonstrated in Section 4.2 and 4.3). The key advice that we can offer to parents is to make contextualised judgments about parenting based on their best knowledge of their children through conscious observation during parent-child interaction with close attention paid to the nonverbal (and sometimes verbal) cues of their young children. In addition, parents can benefit from self-reflection on their interaction with children, especially how their children respond to specific parenting practice in different situations. We highlight the uniqueness of each individual family in order to argue against standardisation in evaluating parenting practices in family support services and advocate a bespoke approach whenever possible.



# 6. Reference

- \* indicates the reference is among the included international literature reviews/meta-analyses; \*\* indicates the reference is among the included China-specific empirical research
- Abidin, R. R. (1990). *Parenting Stress Index (PSI)* (Vol. 100). Charlottesville, VA: Pediatric Psychology Press.
- \*Adamo, K. B., & Brett, K. E. (2014). Parental Perceptions and Childhood Dietary Quality. *Maternal and Child Health Journal, 18*(4), 978-995. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10995-013-1326-64
- \*Ahun, M. N., & Côté, S. M. (2018). Maternal depressive symptoms and early childhood cognitive development: a review of putative environmental mediators. *Archives of Women's Mental Health*, 1-10. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00737-018-0870-x
- Ai, Y., Bai, Y., Shi, Y., Luo, R., Rozelle, S., Medina, A., & Sylvia, S. (2020). Parental Migration and Early Childhood Development in Rural China. *Demography*, *57*(2), 403-422. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s13524-019-00849-4
- Ainsworth, MD, Blehar, M,Waters, E,Wall, S, 1978, Patterns of attachment: A psychological study of the strange situation, Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates
- \*Aktar, E., & Bögels, S. M. (2017). Exposure to Parents' Negative Emotions as a Developmental Pathway to the Family Aggregation of Depression and Anxiety in the First Year of Life. *Clinical Child and Family Psychology Review, 20*(4), 369-390. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10567-017-0240-7
- \*Amodia-Bidakowska, A., Laverty, C., & Ramchandani, P. G. (2020). Father-child play: A systematic review of its frequency, characteristics and potential impact on children's development. *Developmental Review*, *57*, 100924.
- \*Avila, W. M., Pordeus, I. A., Paiva, S. M., & Martins, C. C. (2015). Breast and Bottle Feeding as Risk Factors for Dental Caries: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *PLoS One, 10*(11). doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0142922
- \*Baker, S., Morawska, A., & Mitchell, A. (2019). Promoting Children's Healthy Habits Through Self-Regulation Via Parenting. *Clinical Child and Family Psychology Review, 22*(1), 52-62. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10567-019-00280-6
- \*Baldassarre, M. E., Panza, R., Farella, I., Posa, D., Capozza, M., Antonio Di, M., & Laforgia, N. (2020). Vegetarian and Vegan Weaning of the Infant: How Common and How Evidence-Based? A Population-Based Survey and Narrative Review. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *17*(13), 4835. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17134835
- \*\*Ban, L., Guo, S., Scherpbier, R. W., Wang, X., Zhou, H., & Tata, L. J. (2017). Child feeding and stunting prevalence in left-behind children: a descriptive analysis of data from a central and western Chinese population. *International Journal of Public Health*, 62(1), 143-151. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00038-016-0844-6
- Barber, B. K., Maughan, S. L., & Olsen, J. A. (2005). Patterns of parenting across adolescence. *New directions for child and adolescent development*, *2005*(108), 5-16.
- \*Bariola, E., Gullone, E., & Hughes, E. K. (2011). Child and Adolescent Emotion Regulation: The Role of Parental Emotion Regulation and Expression. *Clinical Child and Family Psychology Review, 14*(2), 198-212. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10567-011-0092-5
- Baumrind, D. (1971). Current patterns of parental authority. *Developmental psychology*, *4*(1p2), 1.

Baumrind, D. (2005). Patterns of parental authority and adolescent autonomy. New directions

for child and adolescent development, 2005(108), 61-69.

- Bean, R. A., Bush, K. R., McKenry, P. C., & Wilson, S. M. (2003). The impact of parental support, behavioral control, and psychological control on the academic achievement and self-esteem of African American and European American adolescents. *Journal of Adolescent Research*, *18*(5), 523-541.
- Becker, W. C. (1964). Consequences of different kinds of parental discipline. *Review of child development research*, *1*(4), 169-208.
- \*Belsky, J., & de Haan, M. (2011). Annual research review: Parenting and children's brain development: The end of the beginning. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, *52*(4), 409-428.
- \*Blaine, R. E., Kachurak, A., Davison, K. K., Klabunde, R., & Fisher, J. O. (2017). Food parenting and child snacking: a systematic review. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity, 14*. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/s12966-017-0593-9
- Bornstein, M. H., & Lansford, J. E. (2010). *Parenting.* In M. H. Bornstein (Ed.), *Handbook of cultural developmental science* (p. 259–277). Psychology Press.
- \*Brumariu, L. E., & Kerns, K. A. (2010). Parent-child attachment and internalizing symptoms in childhood and adolescence: A review of empirical findings and future directions. *Development and Psychopathology, 22*(1), 177-203. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/S0954579409990344
- \*Campbell-Yeo, M. L., Disher, T. C., Benoit, B. L., & Johnston, C. C. (2015). Understanding kangaroo care and its benefits to preterm infants. *Pediatric Health, Medicine and Therapeutics, 6*, 15-32. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.2147/PHMT.S51869
- \*Carneiro, A., Dias, P., & Soares, I. (2016). Risk Factors for Internalizing and Externalizing Problems in the Preschool Years: Systematic Literature Review Based on the Child Behavior Checklist 1<sup>1</sup>/<sub>2</sub>-5. *Journal of Child and Family Studies, 25*(10), 2941-2953. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10826-016-0456-z
- \*\*Chang, A., Sandhofer, C. M., Adelchanow, L., & Rottman, B. (2011). Parental numeric language input to Mandarin Chinese and English speaking preschool children. *Journal of Child Language, 38*(2), 341-355. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/S0305000909990390
- Chao, R. K. (1994). Beyond parental control and authoritarian parenting style: Understanding Chinese parenting through the cultural notion of training. *Child development*, *65*(4), 1111-1119.
- Chen, F., Liu, G., & Mair, C. A. (2011). Intergenerational Ties in Context: Grandparents Caring for Grandchildren in China. *Social Forces*, *90*(2), 571-594. doi:10.1093/sf/sor012
- Clark, A. (2017). *Listening to young children, expanded third edition: A guide to understanding and using the mosaic approach.* Jessica Kingsley Publishers.
- \*Coates, E. E., & Phares, V. (2019). Pathways Linking Nonresident Father Involvement and Child Outcomes. *Journal of Child and Family Studies, 28*(6), 1681-1694. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10826-019-01389-6
- \*Cui, J., Mistur, E. J., Wei, C., Lansford, J. E., Putnick, D. L., & Bornstein, M. H. (2018). Multilevel factors affecting early socioemotional development in humans. *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology, 72*(10), 1-20. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00265-018-2580-9
- \*\*Dong, S., Wang, Z., Lu, S., Liang, X., & Xing, X. (2018). Children's Temperament and Maternal Behavioral Control: Origins of Heterogeneity in Developmental Trajectories of Committed Compliance from Infancy to Age 3. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, 27(8), 2668-2677. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10826-018-1101-9
- \*Endendijk, J. J., Groeneveld, M. G., & Mesman, J. (2018). The Gendered Family Process Model: An Integrative Framework of Gender in the Family. *Archives of Sexual Behavior,*

47(4), 877-904. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10508-018-1185-8

- Fonagy, P., Steele, M., Moran, G., Steele, H., & Higgit, A. (1991). The capacity for understanding mental states: the reflective self in parent and child and its significance for security of attachment. *Infant Mental Health Journal*, 13, 201-218.
- \*Fraser, J., Skouteris, H., McCabe, M., Ricciardelli, L. A., Milgrom, J., & Baur, L. A. (2011). Parental influences on children's weight gain: a systematic review. *Fathering*, *9*(3), 252-267. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.3149/fth.0903.252
- \*Gordon, R. A., Rowe, H. L., & Garcia, K. (2015). Promoting Family Resilience Through Evidence-based Policy Making: Reconsidering the Link Between Adult-Infant Bedsharing and Infant Mortality. *Family Relations*, 64(1), 134-152. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/fare.12099
- Hanser, A., & Li, J. (2017). The hard work of feeding the baby: breastfeeding and intensive mothering in contemporary urban China. *The Journal of Chinese Sociology, 4*(1), 1-20. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/s40711-017-0065-2
- \*Hesketh, K. R., O'Malley, C., Paes, V. M., Moore, H., Summerbell, C., Ong, K. K., . . . van Sluijs, E. M. F. (2017). Determinants of Change in Physical Activity in Children 0–6 years of Age: A Systematic Review of Quantitative Literature. *Sports Medicine*, *47*(7), 1349-1374. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s40279-016-0656-0
- \*Higgins, S., & Katsipataki, M. (2015). Evidence from meta-analysis about parental involvement in education which supports their children's learning. *Journal of Children's Services, 10*(3), 280-290. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1108/JCS-02-2015-0009
- Higgins, J. P. T., Thomas, J., Chandler, J., Cumpston, M., Li, T., Page, M. J., & Welch, V. A. (2019). *Cochrane handbook for systematic reviews of interventions*: John Wiley & Sons.
- \*Hooley, M., Skouteris, H., Boganin, C., Satur, J., & Kilpatrick, N. (2012). Parental influence and the development of dental caries in children aged 0-6 years: A systematic review of the literature. *Journal of Dentistry, 40*(11), 873-885. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jdent.2012.07.013
- \*Jago, R., Edwards, M. J., Urbanski, C. R., & Sebire, S. J. (2013). General and Specific Approaches to Media Parenting: A Systematic Review of Current Measures, Associations with Screen-Viewing, and Measurement Implications. *Childhood Obesity*, 9(s1), S51-72. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1089/chi.2013.0031
- Karreman, A., Van Tuijl, C., van Aken, M. A., & Deković, M. (2006). Parenting and selfregulation in preschoolers: A meta-analysis. *Infant and Child Development: An International Journal of Research and Practice*, *15*(6), 561-579.
- \*Kiff, C. J., Lengua, L. J., & Zalewski, M. (2011). Nature and Nurturing: Parenting in the Context of Child Temperament. *Clinical Child and Family Psychology Review*, 14(3), 251-301. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10567-011-0093-4
- Ladson-Billings, G. (2014). Culturally relevant pedagogy 2.0: aka the remix. *Harvard Educational Review*, *84*(1), 74-84.
- Lamb, M. E., & Easterbrooks, M. A., (1981). Parental Sensitivity: Origins, Components, and Consequences. In Lamb, M. E., and Sherrod, L. R. (Eds.) *Infant social cognition: Empirical and theoretical considerations*. Psychology Press, 127.
- Li, X. (2020). Fathers' Involvement in Chinese Societies: Increasing Presence, Uneven Progress. *Child Development Perspectives*, *14*(3), 150-156.
- Li, X., Liu, Y. Parent-Grandparent Coparenting Relationship, Maternal Parenting Self-efficacy, and Young Children's Social Competence in Chinese Urban Families. *J Child Fam Stud* 28, 1145–1153 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1007/s10826-019-01346-3
- Lim, S.-L., & Lim, B. K. (2003). Parenting Style and Child Outcomes in Chinese and

Immigrant Chinese Families-Current Findings and Cross-Cultural Considerations in Conceptualization and Research. *Marriage & Family Review*, *35*(3–4), 21–43.

- \*Lindsay, A. C., Greaney, M. L., Wallington, S. F., Mesa, T., & Salas, C. F. (2017). A review of early influences on physical activity and sedentary behaviors of preschool-age children in high-income countries. *Journal for Specialists in Pediatric Nursing, 22*(3), 1-15.
- \*\*Liu, T., Zhang, X., & Jiang, Y. (2020). Family socioeconomic status and the cognitive competence of very young children from migrant and non-migrant Chinese families: The mediating role of parenting self-efficacy and parental involvement. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, *51*, 229-241.
- \*\*Lo, K., Cheung, C., Lee, A., Tam, W. W. S., & Keung, V. (2015). Associations between Parental Feeding Styles and Childhood Eating Habits: A Survey of Hong Kong Pre-School Children. *PLoS One, 10*(4). doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0124753
- \*Lucas-Thompson, R. G., Goldberg, W. A., & Prause, J. (2010). Maternal work early in the lives of children and its distal associations with achievement and behavior problems: A meta-analysis. *Psychological Bulletin, 136*(6), 915-942.
- \*\*Luo, R., Jia, F., Yue, A., Zhang, L., Lyu, Q., Shi, Y., ... & Rozelle, S. (2019). Passive parenting and its association with early child development. *Early Child Development and Care*, *189*(10), 1709-1723
- \*Ma, X., Shen, J., Krenn, H. Y., Hu, S., & Yuan, J. (2016). A Meta-Analysis of the Relationship Between Learning Outcomes and Parental Involvement During Early Childhood Education and Early Elementary Education. *Educational Psychology Review, 28*(4), 771-801. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10648-015-9351-1
- Maccoby E, Martin J. Socialization in the context of the family: Parent-child interaction. In: Mussen PH (ed), Handbook of Child Psychology. Wiley: New York, 1983, pp. 1–101.
- \*Moullin, S., Waldfogel, J., & Washbrook, E. (2018). Parent–child attachment as a mechanism of intergenerational (dis)advantage. *Families, Relationships and Societies, 7*(2), 265-284. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1332/204674317X15071998786492
- \*Owen, D. J., Slep, A. M., & Heyman, R. E. (2012). The Effect of Praise, Positive Nonverbal Response, Reprimand, and Negative Nonverbal Response on Child Compliance: A Systematic Review. *Clinical Child and Family Psychology Review, 15*(4), 364-385. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10567-012-0120-0
- Pascal C., Bertram T. and Peckham K. (2018) *DfE Review of Evidence on EYFS Early Learning Goals, Teaching Content and Pedagogy in Reception Year.* DfE: London.
- Pascal, C., Bertram, T., & Rouse, L. (2019). Getting it right in the Early Years Foundation Stage: a review of the evidence. *Centre for Research in Early Childhood*.
- \*Pavarini, G., de Hollanda Souza, D., & Hawk, C. K. (2013). Parental Practices and Theory of Mind Development. *Journal of Child and Family Studies, 22*(6), 844-853. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10826-012-9643-8
- Pettit, G. S., Laird, R. D., Dodge, K. A., Bates, J. E., & Criss, M. M. (2001). Antecedents and behavior-problem outcomes of parental monitoring and psychological control in early adolescence. *Child development*, *72*(2), 583-598.
- \*Pinquart, M. (2014). Associations of general parenting and parent-child relationship with pediatric obesity: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology, 39*(4), 381-393.
- Qu, X., Wang, X., Huang, X., Ashish, K. C., Yang, Y., Huang, Y., . . . Zhou, H. (2020). Socioemotional challenges and development of children left behind by migrant mothers. *Journal of Global Health*, *10*(1). doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.7189/jogh.10.010806
- Ren, L., & Edwards, C. (2015). Pathways of influence: Chinese parents' expectations, parenting styles, and child social competence. *Early Child Development and*

Care, 185(4), 614-630.

- Ren, L., & Xu, W. (2019). Coparenting and Chinese preschoolers' social-emotional development: Child routines as a mediator. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 107, 104549. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2019.104549
- \*\*Ren, L., Zhang, X., Yang, W., & Song, Z. (2018). Relations among Parenting, Child Behavioral Regulation and Early Competencies: A Study on Chinese Preschoolers. *Journal of Child and Family Studies, 27*(2), 639-652. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10826-017-0898-y
- \*\*Rochelle, T. L., & Cheng, H. T. (2016). Parenting Practices and Child Behaviour Problems in Hong Kong: Knowledge of Effective Parenting Strategies, Parenting Stress, and Child-Rearing Ideologies. *Child Indicators Research*, 9(1), 155-171. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s12187-015-9311-9
- \*Russell, C. G., Taki, S., Laws, R., Leva, A., Campbell, K. J., Elliott, R., . . . Denney-Wilson, E. (2016). Effects of parent and child behaviours on overweight and obesity in infants and young children from disadvantaged backgrounds: systematic review with narrative synthesis. *BMC Public Health, 16*.
- \*Scott, S. (2012). Parenting quality and children's mental health: Biological mechanisms and psychological interventions. *Current Opinion in Psychiatry*, *25*(4), 301-306.
- Schaefer, E. S. (1965). Children's reports of parental behavior: An inventory. *Child development*, 413-424.
- Shorey, S., & Ang, L. (2019). Experiences, needs, and perceptions of paternal involvement during the first year after their infants' birth: A meta-synthesis. *PloS one*, *14*(1), e0210388.
- Silverstein, M., & Zuo, D. (2020). Grandparents caring for grandchildren in rural China: consequences for emotional and cognitive health in later life. *Aging & Mental Health*, 1-11.
- Slade, A. (2007). Reflective parenting programs: Theory and development. *Psychoanalytic Inquiry*, *26*(4), 640-657.
- \*Sleddens, E. F., Gerards, S. M., Thijs, C., De Vries, N. K., & Kremers, S. P. (2011). General parenting, childhood overweight and obesity-inducing behaviors: A review. *International journal of pediatric obesity*, *6*(2Part2), 12-27.
- Smetana, J. G. (2017). Current research on parenting styles, dimensions, and beliefs. *Current opinion in Psychology*, *15*, 19-25.
- \*Valcan, D. S., Davis, H., & Pino-Pasternak, D. (2018). Parental Behaviours Predicting Early Childhood Executive Functions: a Meta-Analysis. *Educational Psychology Review, 30*(3), 607-649. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10648-017-9411-9
- \*van der Voort, A., Juffer, F., & Bakermans-Kranenburg, M. J. (2014). Sensitive parenting is the foundation for secure attachment relationships and positive social-emotional development of children. *Journal of Children's Services*, 9(2), 165-176. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1108/JCS-12-2013-0038
- \*Verhage, M. L., Schuengel, C., Madigan, S., Fearon, R., Oosterman, M., Cassibba, R., . . . van Ijzendoorn, M. H. (2016). Narrowing the transmission gap: A synthesis of three decades of research on intergenerational transmission of attachment. *Psychological Bulletin, 142*(4), 337-366.
- Wang, C. D., Hayslip, B., Sun, Q., & Zhu, W. (2019). Grandparents as the Primary Care Providers for Their Grandchildren: A Cross-Cultural Comparison of Chinese and U.S. Samples. *The International Journal of Aging and Human Development*, *89*(4), 331– 355. https://doi.org/10.1177/0091415018824722

- Ward, T. C. S. (2015). Reasons for mother–infant bed-sharing: A systematic narrative synthesis of the literature and implications for future research. *Maternal and child health journal*, *19*(3), 675-690.
- Xing, X., & Wang, M. (2017). Gender Differences in the Moderating Effects of Parental Warmth and Hostility on the Association between Corporal Punishment and Child Externalizing Behaviors in China. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, 26(3), 928-938. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10826-016-0610-7
- \*Xu, H., Li Ming, W., & Rissel, C. (2015). Associations of Parental Influences with Physical Activity and Screen Time among Young Children: A Systematic Review. *Journal of Obesity, 2015.* doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1155/2015/546925
- Yao, Y., Wang, T., Liang, J., Yang, C., Wang, H., Zhao, X., . . . Liu, W. (2020). Behavioural Problems Amongst Pre-School Children in Chongqing, China: Current Situation and Influencing Factors. *Risk Management and Healthcare Policy*, *13*, 1149-1160. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.2147/RMHP.S263155
- Yue, A., Bai, Y., Shi, Y., Luo, R., Rozelle, S., Medina, A., & Sylvia, S. (2020). Parental Migration and Early Childhood Development in Rural China. *Demography*, *57*(2), 403-422. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s13524-019-00849-4
- \*\*Yue, A., Marsh, L., Zhou, H., Medina, A., Luo, R., Shi, Y., . . . Rozelle, S. (2016). Nutritional Deficiencies, the Absence of Information and Caregiver Shortcomings: A Qualitative Analysis of Infant Feeding Practices in Rural China. *PLoS One, 11*(4). doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0153385
- \*Zeegers, M. A., Colonnesi, C., Stams, G.J. J., & Meins, E. (2017). Mind matters: A metaanalysis on parental mentalization and sensitivity as predictors of infant-parent attachment. *Psychological Bulletin, 143*(12), 1245-1272.
- \*\*Zhong, J., He, Y., Gao, J., Wang, T., & Luo, R. (2020). Parenting Knowledge, Parental Investments, and Early Childhood Development in Rural Households in Western China. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *17*(8), 2792. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17082792



7. Appendix

Table 2.2a Quality assessment of the included international literature reviews and meta-analyses

Note: A four-point scale was adopted. with higher score indicating more relevance and higher methodological avality.

NOV	ie: A Jour-poin	Note. A jour-point scale was anoplea, with higher score matching more relevance and higher methodological quality.	ore indicating more	s relevance and	nigner methodologicu	at quattry.		
NO.	Reference	Type of literature review	Relevance to the research questions	Conceptual /theoretical framing	Methodological rigour, transparency, ethics	Reliability, validity and trustworthiness	Review	Check
1	Adamo & Brett, 2013	Narrative review of parental perceptions and childhood dietary quality	3	4	3	4	JG	CB
2	Ahun & Cote, 2018	Qualitative review of mediators between maternal depressive symptoms and children's cognitive development	e	4	4	4	JG	CB
3	Aktar & Bögels , 2017	Narrative review of associations between parents' expressions of emotions and infants' emotional development	4	4	3	4	JG	CB
4	Amodia- Bidakowska et al., 2020	Systematic review of associations between father- child play and infants social, emotional and cognitive development	4	4	4	4	JG	CB
IJ	Avila et al., 2015	Systematic review and meta- analysis of associations between parents' feeding practice and children's dental caries	4	4	4	4	JG	CB
9	Baker et al., 2019	Qualitative review of relationships between parenting practices and children's healthy habits and self-regulation	4	4	3	4	JG	CB

NO.	Reference	Type of literature review	Relevance to the research questions	Conceptual /theoretical framing	Methodological rigour, transparency, ethics	Reliability, validity and trustworthiness	Review	Check
15	Cui et al., 2018	Narrative review of relationships between parenting and children' socioemotional development	4	4	3	4	JG	CB
16	Endendijk et al., 2018	Narrative review of relationships between parental gender socialisation and children's gender development	3	4	3	4	JG	CB
17	Fraser et al., 2011	Systematic review of parental influences on children's weight gain	4	4	4	4	JG	CB
18	Gordon et al., 2015	Narrative review of relationships between adult-infant bedsharing and sudden infant death	4	4	4	4	JG	СВ
19	Hesketh et al., 2017	Systematic review of relationships between parenting and children's physical activity	4	4	4	4	JG	СВ
20	Higgins & Katsipataki, 2015	Review of meta-analysis studies of parental involvement and children's cognitive development	3	4	4	4	JG	СВ
21	Hooley et al., 2012	Systematic review of parental influence on children's dental caries	4	4	4	4	JG	СВ
22	Jago et al., 2013	Systematic review of relationships between media parenting and children's screen viewing behaviours	3	4	4	4	JG	СВ
23	Kiff et al., 2011	Narrative review of relationships between parenting behaviours and children's temperament and adjustment problems	4	4	κ	4	Ð	CB

Reference	0	Type of literature review	Relevance to the research questions	Conceptual /theoretical framing	rigour, transparency, ethics	Reliability, validity and trustworthiness	Review	Check
Lindsay et al., 2017	iy et 017	Systematic review of relationships between parenting and children's physical activity and sedentary behaviours	4	4	4	4	JG	СВ
Lucas- Thompson et al., 2010	as- 5son 2010	Meta-analysis review of associations between maternal employment during infancy/early childhood and children's achievement and behavioural development	ε	4	4	4	Ðſ	CB
Ma et al., 2016	t al., I6	Meta-analysis review of associations between parental involvement and children's learning outcomes	3	4	4	4	JG	CB
Moullin et al., 2018	lin et 018	Narrative review of relationships between parental sensitivity/attachment style and children's development	в	4	б	ო	JG	CB
Owen 20	Owen et al., 2012	Systematic review of the Effect of Praise, Positive Nonverbal Response, Reprimand, and Negative Nonverbal Response on Child Compliance	3	4	4	4	JG	CB
Pava al., 3	Pavarini et al., 2013	Narrative review of relationships between parental practices and theory of mind development	3	4	3	4	JG	CB
Pino 20	Pinquart, 2014	Meta-analysis review of associations between parenting and children's weight status, eating habits and physical activities	ω	4	4	4	ŋ	CB

NO.	Reference	Type of literature review	Relevance to the research questions	Conceptual /theoretical framing	Methodological rigour, transparency, ethics	Reliability, validity and trustworthiness	Review	Check
31	Russell et al., 2016	Systematic review of associations between parenting behaviours and children's weight status and dietary behaviours	4	4	4	4	JG	CB
32	Scott, 2012	Narrative review of effects of parenting on children's physiological and genetic systems	3	З	3	З	JG	CB
33	Sleddens et al., 2011	Systematic review of associations between parenting styles and children's overweight and obesity-inducing behaviours	3	4	4	4	JG	CB
34	Valcan et al., 2018	Meta-analysis review of effects of parental behaviours on children's executive function	4	4	4	4	JG	CB
35	van der Voort et al., 2014	Narrative review of relationships between sensitive parenting and children's development	4	4	3	4	JG	CB
36	Verhage et al., 2016	Meta-analysis review of the associations between parental attachment experiences/representations and child attachment	3	4	4	4	JG	CB
37	Xu et al., 2015	Systematic review of associations between parenting and children's physical activity and screen time	4	4	4	4	JG	CB

Review Check	CB
Review	JG
Reliability, validity and trustworthiness	4
Methodological rigour, transparency, ethics	4
Conceptual /theoretical framing	4
Relevance to the research questions	4
Type of literature review	Meta-analysis review of parental mentalization and sensitivity as predictors of infant-parent attachment
NO. Reference	Zeegers et al., 2017
NO.	38

# Table 2.2b Quality assessment of the included empirical research in Chinese contexts

Note: A four-point scale was adopted, with higher score indicating more relevance and higher methodological quality.

	Reference	Type of study	Relevance to	Conceptual	Methodological	Reliability,	Review	Check
NO.			the research questions	/theoretical framing	rigour, transparency, ethics	validity and trustworthiness		
-	Ban et al., 2017	Cross-sectional survey study of the associations between parents' feeding practice and	4	4	4	m	Ð	CB
7	Chang et al., 2011	Observation study of associations between parental numeric speech and children's numeric acquisition	£	4	4	m	Ð	CB
n	Dong et al., 2018	Longitudinal study of associations between maternal behavioural control and children's committed compliance	4	4	4	4	ຍົ	CB
4	Liu et al., 2020	Cross-sectional survey study of associations between parenting self-efficacy/parental involvement and children's cognitive development	4	4	4	m	ŋ	CB

	Reference	Type of study	Relevance to the research questions	Conceptual /theoretical framing	Methodological rigour, transparency, ethics	Reliability, validity and trustworthiness	Review	Check
	Lo et al., 2015	Cross-sectional survey study of associations between parents' feeding practice and children's dietary patterns	4	4	4	'n	Ð	CB
	Luo et al., 2019	Cross-sectional survey study of associations between interactive parenting and children's development	4	4	4	ĸ	Ð	СВ
Ř	Ren et al., 2018	Cross-sectional survey study of relationships between parenting, child behavioural regulation and early competencies	3	4	ε	£	JG	CB
R	Rochelle & Cheng, 2016	Cross-sectional survey study of relationships between parenting and children's behavioural problems	3	4	3	Э	JG	CB
$\succ$	Yue et al., 2016	Qualitative study (Interview) of relationships between feeding practices and infants' nutrition	4	4	4	4	JG	CB
	Zhong et al., 2020	Cross-sectional survey study of associations between parenting knowledge and children's cognitive and socioemotional development	4	4	4	ĸ	ЭС	CB

Table 3.1 Summaries of the included international literature reviews and meta-analyses

<ul> <li>Parents are children's role model of healthy eating.</li> <li>Parents have the tendency to overestimate child's dietary quality.</li> <li>Certain level of parental control over child's eating behaviours is required, yet excessive control is harmful for child's dietary quality.</li> <li>Evidence suggests that authoritative parenting style is beneficial to child's dietary quality.</li> </ul>	model of healthy eating. to overestimate child's ntrol over child's eating excessive control is harmful horitative parenting style is quality. nild's dietary quality in ions, including family cioeconomics, cioeconomics,	model of healthy eating. to overestimate child's ntrol over child's eating excessive control is harmful horitative parenting style is quality. nild's dietary quality in cions, including family cioeconomics, the studies 't child's peer and social across the studies 's between maternal S) and children's cognitive	model of healthy eating. to overestimate child's atrol over child's eating excessive control is harmful horitative parenting style is quality. iild's dietary quality in iild's dietary quality in cions, including family cioeconomics, the const speer and social s' child's peer and social across the studies 'the most significant the most significant
<ul> <li>Parents are children's role model of healthy eating</li> <li>Parents have the tendency to overestimate child's dietary quality.</li> <li>Certain level of parental control over child's eating behaviours is required, yet excessive control is har for child's dietary quality.</li> <li>Evidence suggests that authoritative parenting styl beneficial to child's dietary quality.</li> </ul>	Parents are children's role model of healthy eating. Parents have the tendency to overestimate child's dietary quality. Certain level of parental control over child's eating behaviours is required, yet excessive control is har for child's dietary quality. Evidence suggests that authoritative parenting style beneficial to child's dietary quality. A variety of factors affect child's dietary quality in addition to parental perceptions, including family dynamics and structure, socioeconomics, convenience, time and cost, child's peer and social environment, and media.	Parents are children's role model of healthy eating. Parents have the tendency to overestimate child's dietary quality. Certain level of parental control over child's eating behaviours is required, yet excessive control is harmf for child's dietary quality. Evidence suggests that authoritative parenting style is beneficial to child's dietary quality in addition to parental perceptions, including family dynamics and structure, socioeconomics, convenience, time and cost, child's peer and social environment, and media. Mixed evidence is reported across the studies regarding putative mediators between maternal development.	Parents are children's role model of healthy eating Parents have the tendency to overestimate child's dietary quality. Certain level of parental control over child's eating behaviours is required, yet excessive control is han for child's dietary quality. Evidence suggests that authoritative parenting styl beneficial to child's dietary quality in addition to parental perceptions, including family dynamics and structure, socioeconomics, convenience, time and cost, child's peer and socia environment, and media. Mixed evidence is reported across the studies regarding putative mediators between maternal development. Maternal responsiveness and quality of maternal caregiving are shown to be the most significant mediators.
icy to overestimate ch control over child's ea et excessive control i authoritative parentin iny quality.	icy to overestimate ch control over child's ex et excessive control i enthoritative parentin iry quality. t child's dietary qualit eptions, including far socioeconomics, cost, child's peer and :	icy to overestimate ch control over child's ex et excessive control i authoritative parenting iny quality. t child's dietary qualit eptions, including far socioeconomics, cost, child's peer and t cost, child's peer and t fed across the studies ators between matern ADS) and children's c	icy to overestimate ch control over child's ex et excessive control i authoritative parenting ry quality. t child's dietary qualit eptions, including far socioeconomics, ost, child's peer and ( cost, child's peer and ( fed across the studies ators between matern ADS) and children's c s and quality of mater be the most significal
Certain level of parental control ov behaviours is required, yet excess for child's dietary quality. Evidence suggests that authoritati beneficial to child's dietary quality.	Certain level of parental control over child behaviours is required, yet excessive con for child's dietary quality. Evidence suggests that authoritative pare beneficial to child's dietary quality. A variety of factors affect child's dietary qi addition to parental perceptions, including dynamics and structure, socioeconomics, convenience, time and cost, child's peer a environment, and media.	of parental control s required, yet exce stary quality. ggests that authorits child's dietary qualit child's dietary qualit factors affect child's arental perceptions, id structure, socioec of structure, socioec it and media. nce is reported acro ntative mediators be symptoms (MDS) an t.	of parental control of s required, yet exceestary quality. ggests that authorits child's dietary qualit child's dietary qualit factors affect child's arental perceptions, id structure, socioec of s time and cost, child that and media. It and media. It and media. It and the socioest of the symptoms (MDS) an tart to the socioest of the symptoms (MDS) and tart to be the shown to be the social second structure shown to be the social second second second static shown to be the social second s
Evidence suggests that a beneficial to child's dietary quality. Evidence suggests that a beneficial to child's dietar	for child's dietary quality. Evidence suggests that a beneficial to child's dietai A variety of factors affect addition to parental perce dynamics and structure, convenience, time and co	for child's dietary for child's dietary beneficial to child A variety of facto addition to parer dynamics and st convenience, tim environment, an Mixed evidence regarding putativ development.	
early years to (early years to adolescence)	• •	•••	••••
perceptions; parental practice; parenting style	perceptions; parental practice; parenting style	parental practice; parenting style Mother-child	parental practice; parenting style Mother-child interactions; maternal parenting behaviours
articles (not specified)			
	> > > >		Q
			Ahun & Cote, 2018
•			N

						<ul> <li>This review summarises research evidence regarding the associations between parenting practices and children's self-regulation and healthy habits.</li> </ul>
Q	Baker et al., 2019	Qualitative review	Not specified	Parenting practices	Self-regulation; healthy habits (early childhood)	<ul> <li>Parenting practices that are beneficial to children's health-related self-regulation include modelling, proactive regulation, use of reinforcements/punishments and establishment of routines and habits.</li> </ul>
						<ul> <li>Longitudinal studies are needed to further investigate the associations, which would have implications on parenting interventions aiming at promoting healthy habits in early childhood.</li> </ul>
2	Baldassarre et al., 2020	Narrative review	9 studies (1st May 2010 to 30th April 2020)	Vegetarian and Vegan Weaning	Child's nutrition (infants)	<ul> <li>Vegetarian and vegan weaning without appropriate diet regimen may cause severe nutritional deficiencies in early childhood and lead to potential detrimental long-term effects.</li> </ul>
	Bariola et	Narrative	29 studies	Parental emotion	Emotion	<ul> <li>Parents' emotion regulation and emotional expression are integral to children's development of emotion regulation.</li> </ul>
×	al., 2011	review	(1991-2010)	regulation and expression	regulation (2-19 years old)	<ul> <li>Research evidence suggests that fathers and mothers may exert different influence on children's development of emotion regulation. More research is needed to look into fathers' influence.</li> </ul>

თ	Belsky & de Haan, 2011	Narrative review	Not specified	Parenting (mainly maltreatment and institutionalisation)	Brain development and function (infants to adolescents)	<ul> <li>This review summarises the research evidence of how parenting (mainly maltreatment and institutionalisation) affects children's brain development and function.</li> <li>Given the substantial evidence generated by research of extreme circumstances, the authors pointed out that more research is needed to investigate the influence of non-extreme/non-pathological parenting on children's brain development and function.</li> <li>More studies are needed to examine children's brain development of extent of extended to an extended to a strain development and function.</li> </ul>
						and whether parenting effects on brain development potentially mediate the parenting effects on children's behaviour, cognition, emotion and health.
10	Blaine et al.,	Systematic	47 studies	General parenting style and specific	Snacking	<ul> <li>Evidence suggests that parental restriction of food and home availability of unhealthy food have positive associations with child snack intake.</li> </ul>
	2017	review	(1980-2017)	tood parenting practice	(2-18 years)	<ul> <li>Mixed evidence yields in terms of the associations between parental pressure to eat/ monitoring/ role modelling and child snacking.</li> </ul>
			19 studies for			<ul> <li>Most studies focused on mother-child attachment, whereas father-child attachment is under-investigated.</li> </ul>
:	Brumariu &	Narrative	general internalizing symptoms; 10 studies for	Parent-child	General internalizing svmptoms.	<ul> <li>Previous studies have generated mixed evidence of the association between parent-child attachment and children's general internalizing symptoms in childhood.</li> </ul>
<u>-</u>	Kerns, 2010	review	anxiety; 4 studies for	attachment; sensitive parenting	anxiety and depression	• Evidence suggests that secure parent-child attachment is related to lower levels of anxiety in children.
			aepression (1967 to present)		(∠-ið ýears)	<ul> <li>A relatively small number of studies investigated the association between attachment and childhood depression. Nonetheless, the limited evidence suggests that they are related.</li> </ul>

	Not specified 28 studies (Jan 2001- Dec 2014) 10 studies	Kangaroo care Disciplinary practices; parental interactions; expectations; concerns about the child Non-resident father involvement	Mortality; physiological, behavioural and neuro- development; parent-infant attachment (infants) (infants) (infants) (infants) childhood) childhood) Behaviour problems and cognitive development (incl.3-8 years old)	<ul> <li>This review synthesises research evidence of the benefits of kangaroo care to infants wellbeing, including temperature regulation, physiological stability, steep organisation, mortality, infection, growth, NICU admission, breastfeeding, cry, neurodevelopment and parent-child attchment.</li> <li>The review demonstrates mixed evidence of the association between parents' disciplinary practices (e.g., harsh discipline)/parental interaction (e.g., intrusive interaction, low emotional stimulation and insensitive parenting) and children's internalising and externalising problems, suggesting that sample characteristics and other relevant variables should be taken into consideration.</li> <li>The review suggests that parents' inappropriate expectations and concerns about children's internalising and evelopment may be related to children's internalising and evelopment may be related to children's internalising did evelopment.</li> <li>The review reports mixed evidence of direct relationships between non-resident father involvement and children's behaviour problems and condition into and involvement is related to maternal parenting, which affect children's behaviour problems and condition.</li> </ul>
Campbell- Narra Yeo et al., revi 2015 Tevi al., 2016 revi al., 2016 revi 2019 Narra 2019 revi	Campbell- Narrative Yeo et al., review 2015 al., 2016 review Coates & Narrative Phares, review 2019	Narrative review Systematic review review	Narrative Not specified review Systematic (Jan 2001- review Dec 2014) Narrative 10 studies review 10 studies	Narrative review     Not specified     Kangaroo care       Narrative     Not specified     Kangaroo care       Systematic     28 studies (Jan 2001- review     Disciplinary       Systematic     28 studies (Jan 2001- review     Interactions; expectations; concerns about the child       Narrative     10 studies     Non-resident father involvement

						<ul> <li>Research evidence shows early social experiences are related to children's genome and neurodevelopment, especially during infancy as a sensitive period of socio- emotional development.</li> </ul>
					Genome and brain	<ul> <li>Research evidence suggests that in general children's perceived parental acceptance-rejection relates to their socio-emotional development, with some cultural variance in specific effects.</li> </ul>
15	Cui et al., 2018	Narrative review	Not specified	raterital warmun, acceptance, rejection and corporal punishment	development; socio-emotional development (early	<ul> <li>Societal gender norms, attributional styles, family composition and marital status are found to be influential to parenting practice and children's development.</li> </ul>
						<ul> <li>Cultural differences exist in terms of how children perceive parental warmth and control, as well as the associations between parenting styles and children's development.</li> </ul>
						<ul> <li>Corporal punishment is detrimental to children's socio- emotional adjustment but considerable cultural variance exists in the use and acceptance of corporal punishment.</li> </ul>
۲ د	Endendijk et	Narrative	Not specified	Parental gender	Gender-typed behaviour and gender-role	<ul> <li>This review proposes a gendered family process model to understand children's gender development through the interplay between biological, social and cognitive processes within family.</li> </ul>
2	al., 2018	review		socialisation	cognitions (from prenatal period)	<ul> <li>Parental gender-role cognitions and gender socialisation have bi-directional associations with children's gender development (<i>i.e.</i>, gender-typed behaviour and gender-role cognitions).</li> </ul>

<ul> <li>Mixed evidence has been reported by studies investigating the associations between paternal parenting style and children's weight gain and obesity. Weight gain, weight gain and obesity.</li> <li>Research findings suggest that fathers' eating-related attitudes are related to feeding practices, which are associated with children's weight.</li> <li>Research findings suggest that paternal knowledge about their children's weight.</li> <li>Research findings suggest that paternal knowledge about their children's weight.</li> <li>Fathers were regarded as secondary carers in most existing studies.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>The authors used the context-based evidence-based policy making framework to review the research about adult-infant bedsharing and sudden infant death.</li> <li>Sudden infant</li> <li>Three types of studies were under review, namely, death (infant)</li> <li>Three types of studies, sudden infant death syndrome case-control studies, sudden infant sleep, and parent survey and focus groups.</li> <li>Research evidence suggests that bedsharing is especially risky when it intersects with other individual risk factors.</li> </ul>		
Weig overw obesi (up to	Sudd d (ir		
Paternal parenting style, behaviours and cognitions (e.g., paternal attitudes and knowledge)	Adult-infant bedsharing		
10 studies (before 2010)	Not specified		
Systematic review	Narrative review		
Fraser et al., 2011	Gordon et al., 2015		
17	8		

Consistent evidence shows that parental monitoring is positively associated with children's physical activity (PA).	<ul> <li>Parental</li> <li>Evidence suggests that maternal role-modelling is positively associated with children's PA.</li> </ul>	motivation, goal         Physical activity         • Existing studies have generated mixed evidence of the setting,           setting,         (0-6 years)         • Existing studies have generated mixed evidence of the association between parental goal setting and children's PA.	<ul> <li>Research evidence shows that parental knowledge, parental</li> <li>Research evidence shows that parental knowledge, parental motivation, parenting skills and parental self- efficacy are not associated with children's PA.</li> </ul>	Limited studies have been conducted to investigate PA change from infancy to preschool period.	Children's       Children's         learning,       earning,         learning,       eardemic         cognitive and       academic         academic       evidence suggesting that improved parental         Parental       (pre-         involvement       involvement has positive impact on children's learning,         kindergarten       (pre-         involvement       involvement programmes ( <i>i.e.</i> , general approach,         secondary       programmes for family literacy programmes and targeted         school pupils)       programmes for families in need).
Parental reinforcement, role-modelling, motivation, goal setting, knowledge, skills self-efficacy and parental behaviours					
44 studies (before Oct 2015)					13 studies (1995- 2013)
Systematic review					Review of meta- analysis studies
		Hesketh et al., 2017			Higgins & Katsipataki, 2015
		19			50

<ul> <li>In the field of early childhood caries, the most extensively studies parental variables are socio- demographic factors, feeding practices (e.g., breast and bottle feeding, nocturnal feeding and between- meal snacking) and parent dental-health-related behaviours (e.g., tooth brushing and dental attendance). Majority studies have reported consistent findings.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>More studies are needed to investigate the effects of parents' attributes, attitudes, knowledge and beliefs on early childhood caries.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>The field can benefit from an ecological framework which enables researchers to investigate multilevel influential factors.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>There is no adequate evidence of the associations between parenting styles and children's screen viewing.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>A wide range of media-related parenting practices have been investigated yet the conceptualisation and measurement of media-related parenting practices were heterogeneous across studies. Therefore it was challenging to draw conclusion based on the research findings.</li> </ul>
Early childhood caries		Screen viewing (infants to adolescents)		
Feeding practice, dental-health- related behaviours, attributes,		Parenting style and media-related parenting practice		
55 studies (2006-2011)	29 stindies	(before January 2012)		
Systematic review	Systematic review			
Hooley et al., 2012				Jago et al., 2013
2				5

<ul> <li>The review demonstrates evidence of the bidirectional relations between parental control/harsh parenting and young children's difficult temperament/negative emotionality.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Evidence suggests that young children's difficult temperament/negative emotionality increases the risk of adjustment problems in the presence of low parental responsiveness/sensitivity and high psychological control.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Evidence suggests that young children's low emotionality or reactivity seem to be less susceptible to parenting behaviours.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Evidence shows moderate bidirectional effects between children's frustration/irritability/anger and negative parenting (e.g., anger, rejection, hostility and intrusiveness).</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Mixed evidence is reported regarding the interaction between children's irritability/frustration and parenting behaviours. Both seem to exert unique effects on children's adjustment problems.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Research evidence suggests that the associations between children's fearfulness and parenting may operate differently given different aspects of parenting, children's gender, developmental periods, and levels of fear.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Consistent evidence shows that parenting predicts the development of self-regulation, effortful control and impulsivity in infants and young children.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Children's self-regulation and impulsivity moderates the effect of parental control behaviours on children's externalising problems.</li> </ul>
	Children's temperament ( <i>e.g.</i> , emotionality, frustration, fear, self-regulation, impulsivity); adjustment problems (early childhood)						
Parenting behaviours							
Not specified							
	Narrative review						
			Kiff et al., 2011				
			23				

<ul> <li>Parental beliefs, attitudes, concerns and their own physical activities and sedentary behaviours influence young children's physical activity (PA) and sedentary behaviours.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>No association was found between parenting styles and children's PA.</li> </ul>	Parental support for and involvement in PA are related to children's PA.	<ul> <li>Parents' screen-viewing-related practices (e.g., restrictions on TV viewing) influence children's PA.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Research evidence suggests that maternal employment during infancy/early childhood is not significantly associated with children's later achievement or internalising/externalising behaviours in most cases.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Some studies show that early employment is associated with higher achievement and fewer internalising behaviours as rated by teachers.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Results of moderator analyses suggest that the effects are moderated by socioeconomic and contextual variables (e.g., single- or two-parent family).</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Research shows negative findings for very early employment (child's first year).</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>The result of meta-analysis suggests that parental involvement (<i>i.e.</i>, behavioural, personal and intellectual involvement) during early childhood is positively associated with children's learning outcomes.</li> </ul>
Physical activity and sedentary behaviours (0-5 years)			Achievement	and behaviour problems (0-13+ years	010)		Learning outcomes (early childhood)	
Parental physical activity and sedentary behaviours; parental beliefs, attitudes and concerns; parenting styles; parenting practice; parental influence on screen viewing			Maternal	employment during infancy/early	childhood		Parental involvement	
158 studies (2000-2016)				69 studies (1960-March 2010)			46 studies (1990-2015)	
Systematic review			Meta- analysis review				Meta- analysis review	
	Lindsay et al., 2017				Lucas- Thompson et al., 2010			Ma et al., 2016
	24				25			26

<ul> <li>Research evidence suggests that children's attachment security is associated with self-regulation, executive functions, language and educational attainment.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Research evidence suggests that children's attachment insecurity is associated with externalising/ internalising behaviours.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Research evidence suggests a strong association between parents' and children's attachment security.</li> </ul>	Evidence suggests that parent sensitivity is associated with children's attachment styles.	<ul> <li>Parental socio-economic and socio-emotional factors affect parent sensitivity.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Consistent evidence shows that reprimand and negative nonverbal responses (not delivered in a harsh or highly punitive manner) elicit greater compliance. On the other hand, praise and positive nonverbal responses lead to mixed child compliance.</li> <li>Harsh verbalisation cannot increase compliance and may lead to distress in children.</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>Research evidenc attachment securi executive function attainment.</li> </ul>	Research evidence sugg attachment insecurity is internalising behaviours.	<ul> <li>Consistent evidence shows that negative nonverbal responses ( or highly punitive manner) elicit On the other hand, praise and p responses lead to mixed child c</li> <li>Harsh verbalisation cannot incre may lead to distress in children.</li> </ul>			
Attachment style; self- regulation;	externalising/ internalising behaviours; executive	Child compliance (one and half to eleven years)			
	Parental sensitivity; parent	Praise, positive nonverbal response, reprimand, negative nonverbal response			
	Not specified	41 studies (1970-2012)			
	Narrative	Systematic review			
	Moullin et	2007			Owen et al., 2012
	27				28

The review demonstrates evidence of the associations between maternal feeding practices ( <i>e.g.</i> , parental Weight, eating, modelling, monitoring, pressure to eat and restriction) and physical and dietary outcomes in infants and children.	<ul> <li>activity and sector evidence shows associations between tice;</li> <li>sedentary sedentary behaviour</li> <li>authoritarian and uninvolved) and children's dietary (infants and uninvolved) and children's dietary volung children)</li> </ul>	Mixed evidence is reported about associations     between breast-/bottle-feeding/age or introducing solid     foods and child weight.	Neurohormonal functions,         The review presents research evidence of the functions,           ality         genetic systems (early         biological effects of parenting on young children's neurohormonal functions and the expression of genotype.	<ul> <li>Childhood</li> <li>overweight and</li> <li>obesity-inducing</li> <li>behaviours</li> <li>(infancy to</li> <li>adolescence)</li> </ul>	practices, parent and child characteristics.
Parenting	behaviours; feeding practice; parental feeding styles		Parenting quality	General parenting style	
	32 studies (before Dec 2015)		Not specified	36 studies	
	Systematic review		Narrative review	Systematic review	
	Russell et al., 2016		Scott, 2012	Sleddens et al., 2011	
	31		32	33	

<ul> <li>Results of meta-analysis show significant associations between children's composite executive functions and positive (<i>e.g.</i>, warmth, responsiveness, sensitivity), negative (<i>e.g.</i>, control, intrusiveness, detachment) and cognitive stimulation) parental behaviours.</li> <li>The association between cognitive parental behaviours and children's executive functions has larger effect size in younger children, whilst age does not moderate the associations between children's executive functions and negative parental behaviours.</li> <li>No significant moderation effects of ethnicity or SES were detected for the associations between parental behaviours.</li> <li>Results of meta-analysis show small effect sizes of the effects of genetics and environmental contexts on children's executive functions.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>The review presents evidence of the association between sensitive parenting and children's attachment security.</li> <li>Some studies suggested that gene-environment interactions played a role in intergenerational transmission of attachment security.</li> <li>Evidence shows the associations between attachment security and social competence, behaviour problems and neurobiological development.</li> </ul>		
Executive functions (0-8 years)	Attachment security, social competence, behaviour problems and neurobiological development (infancy to early childhood)		
Parental behaviours	Sensitive parenting		
42 studies (2000-2016)	Not specified		
Meta- analysis review	Narrative review		
Valcan et al., 2018	van der Voort et al., 2014		
34	35		

<ul> <li>Results of meta-analysis suggest that the intergenerational transmission of attachment may vary in strength depending on other psychosocial risks of the targeted population and children's age.</li> <li>Effect size for the transmission is smaller for non- biological child-carer dyads, but more research is needed to investigate biological heritability of attachment representations.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>The review shows moderate to strong evidence of the association between parental encouragement/support, parental physical activity level and children's physical activity.</li> <li>Mixed evidence is reported regarding the association between parental perception, parental self-efficacy, and parenting style with children's physical activity.</li> <li>Evidence suggests that parents' own screen time and parental self-efficacy is associated with children's screen time and parental self-efficacy is associated with children's screen time.</li> <li>Inconsistent evidence is reported regarding the association between parental self-efficacy is associated with children's screen time.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Results of meta-analysis suggest that parental mentalisation exerts influence on infant-parent attachment security both directly and indirectly through parental sensitivity.</li> <li>Parental mentalisation is associated with parental sensitivity and both play a complementary role in influencing infant-parent attachment security.</li> </ul>
Child attachment (12-74 months)	Physical activity and sedentary behaviours (0-6 years old)	Infant-parent attachment security (0-3 years old)
Attachment experiences and representations	Parenting practices; parents' role modeling; parental perceptions; parental self- efficacy; and general parenting style	Parental mentalisation ( <i>i.e.</i> , mind-mindfulness, insightfulness, and reflective functioning), parental sensitivity
78 studies (before July 2014)	30 studies (1998-2013)	<ul> <li>17 studies of mentalisation and attachement;</li> <li>85 studies of attachment and sensitivity;</li> <li>and 18 studies of mentalization and sensitivity (1997-2016)</li> </ul>
Meta- analysis review	Systematic review	Meta- analysis review
Verhage et al., 2016	Xu et al., 2015	Zeegers et al., 2017
30	37	38

Table 3.2 Summaries of included empirical research in Chinese contexts

NO	Authors and year of publication	Study type	Sample/ Participants	Parenting variable(s)	Children development	Main findings relevant to the current research questions
						<ul> <li>Children's left-behind status was not associated with stunting.</li> </ul>
~	Ban et al., 2017	Cross- sectional	6136 caregivers of left-behind children	Feeding practices	Stunting	<ul> <li>Left-behind children cared by fathers were more likely to be stunted compared to left-behind children cared by mothers.</li> </ul>
		survey study	(0-0 )cais)			<ul> <li>Left-behind children of migrant mothers had higher risk of lacking age-appropriate breastfeeding and a minimum acceptable diet compared to non-left- behind children.</li> </ul>
			59 Mandarin- speaking caregiver-child dyads (14 to 32			<ul> <li>Research evidence shows a higher proportion of number terms in the parental speech of Mandarin- speaking caregivers than that of English-speaking caregivers.</li> </ul>
2	Cliang et al., 2011	study	months) and 180 English-speaking caregiver-child	numeric speech	acquisition	<ul> <li>Children's exposure to numeric content through parental numeric language input contributes to children's numeric acquisition.</li> </ul>
			uyaus (10.02 months)			<ul> <li>The difference in parental numeric speech may be due to both language and cultural differences.</li> </ul>

NO	Authors and year of publication	Study type	Sample/ Participants	Parenting variable(s)	Children development	Main findings relevant to the current research questions
κ	Dong et al., 2018	Longitudinal study	92 mother-child dyads (assessed at 10, 14, 25 and 38 months)	Maternal behavioural control	Committed compliance	<ul> <li>Three groups of different developmental trajectories were identified: children who started low committed compliance at 14 months but had an increase trajectory (developmental group); children who consistently scored low in committed compliance from 14 to 38 months (low-level group) and children who scored consistently high (high- level group).</li> <li>Low-level group seemed to be more easily to be distracted and fearful.</li> <li>No gender difference was identified in maternal</li> </ul>
						<ul> <li>Low-level and high-level group mothers showed higher maternal control while developmental group mothers remained relatively consistent in terms of maternal control.</li> </ul>
			748 migrant and	Doronting on t		<ul> <li>Results suggest that parental education and family income are strongly associated with children's early cognitive competence across migrant (i.e., rural to urban) and non- migrant families.</li> </ul>
4	Liu et al., 2020	Cross- sectional survey study	families residing in urban areas (children aged 2-3 years)	rarenung sen- efficacy; parental involvement	Cognitive competence	<ul> <li>Results suggest that parenting self-efficacy and parental involvement partially mediated the effects of parental education and family income on children's early cognitive competence.</li> </ul>
						<ul> <li>Results suggest that the effect of parental education on parenting self-efficacy was stronger for migrant than non-migrant families.</li> </ul>

Main findings relevant to the current research questions	<ul> <li>Results suggest that instrumental and emotional feeding was associated with negative dietary patterns, including inadequate consumption of fruit, vegetables and breakfast, and large intake of high-energy-density food.</li> <li>Control over eating and prompting and encouragement to eat were found to be related to positive dietary patterns, for example, increased intake of high-energy-density food.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Results show that higher ratio of children in the sample exhibited delays in cognitive, language and social-emotional development, compared to children in urban areas of China.</li> <li>Interactive parenting practice (<i>i.e.</i>, storytelling, singing and playing) was found to be related to children's cognitive, language and social-emotional development.</li> <li>Results suggest that caregivers in rural areas of China demonstrate relatively low level of interactive parenting.</li> </ul>
Main findings rele	<ul> <li>Results suggest that instrumental and feeding was associated with negative c patterns, including inadequate consum fruit, vegetables and breakfast, and lar high-energy-density food.</li> <li>Control over eating and prompting and encouragement to eat were found to be positive dietary patterns, for example, i intake of healthy food and less consum high-energy-density food.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Results show that higher ratio of sample exhibited delays in cogni and social-emotional developmen children in urban areas of China.</li> <li>Interactive parenting practice (<i>i.e</i> singing and playing) was found to children's cognitive, language an emotional development.</li> <li>Results suggest that caregivers i China demonstrate relatively low interactive parenting.</li> </ul>
Children development	Dietary patterns	Cognitive functions ( <i>i.e.</i> , information processing, counting and number skills); language ability; social- emotional development
Parenting variable(s)	Feeding styles ( <i>i.e.</i> , instrumental feeding, emotional feeding, prompting and encouragement to eat, and control over eating)	General parenting; interactive parenting practice
Sample/ Participants	Parents of 4553 children (age 2-5 years) in Hong Kong	448 children (aged 6-18 months) and their caregivers in rural areas
Study type	Cross- sectional survey study	Cross- sectional survey study
Authors and year of publication	Lo et al., 2015	Luo et al., 2019
NO.	Q	Q

No	Authors and year of publication	Study type	Sample/ Participants	Parenting variable(s)	Children development	Main findings relevant to the current research questions
~	Ren et al., 2018	Cross- sectional survey study	109 Hong Kong children (around 3 years old) and their parents	Parenting behaviours (incl. supportive parenting and aversive parenting)	Behavioural regulation, mathematics competence, language skills and behaviour problems	<ul> <li>Results suggest that children's behavioural regulation was positively associated with children's number competence, receptive vocabulary, and phonological awareness, but was not related to children's internalizing or externalizing problems.</li> <li>Results suggested that fathers' supportive parenting moderated the relations between children's behavioural regulation and number competence as well as externalizing problems.</li> <li>No significant mediation effects of behavioural regulation on the relations between general parenting behaviours (i.e., supportive and aversive) and children's outcomes were found. The authors suggested that more heterogeneous samples might generate different findings.</li> </ul>
ω	Rochelle & Cheng, 2016	Cross- sectional survey study	106 Hong Kong parents of children (2-10 years old)	Parenting knowledge, parenting stress, parental nurturance, dysfunctional parenting practice	Behaviour problems	<ul> <li>Results suggested that knowledge of effective parenting strategies was associated with parenting stress and dysfunctional parenting practice.</li> <li>Results showed that parenting stress was associated with parental nurturance, dysfunctional parenting and children's behaviour problems.</li> <li>No significant associations were found between Chinese child-rearing ideologies and parenting behaviours and children's behaviour problems.</li> </ul>

No	Authors and year of publication	Study type	Sample/ Participants	Parenting variable(s)	Children development	Main findings relevant to the current research questions
o	Yue et al., 2016	Qualitative study (Interview)	60 primary caregivers of young children (6- 18 months) in rural areas of nationally- designated poverty counties	Complementary feeding practice	Nutrition	<ul> <li>Failure to practise age-appropriate complementary feeding contributes to children's malnutrition.</li> <li>Caregivers lacked adequate knowledge of infant health and nutrition, which impeded proper complementary feeding practices.</li> <li>Caregivers had limited access to quality sources of information about infant nutrition and health.</li> <li>The authors recommended educational campaigns aimed at improving complementary feeding practices.</li> </ul>
10	Zhong et al., 2020	Cross- sectional survey study	1715 rural households with young children (average age 14 months)	Parenting knowledge	Cognitive, language, motor and social- emotional development	<ul> <li>Results suggested that caregivers' parenting knowledge was significantly associated with young children's cognitive, language, motor and social-emotional development.</li> <li>Results suggested that the variety of play materials, the play activities, and the number of play materials in the households mediated the relationships between caregivers' parenting knowledge and young children's development.</li> </ul>